Public Document Pack
Arthur Charvonia
Chief Executive
Babergh District Council
Corks Lane, Hadleigh, Ipswich IP7 6SJ
DX NO: 85055 Exchange: Babergh
Website: www.babergh.gov.uk

TO:

THE CHAIRMAN AND MEMBERS OF
BABERGH DISTRICT COUNCIL

PLEASE NOTE TIME OF MEETING
Dear Sir/Madam
A Meeting of the Babergh District Council will be held in the King Edmund Chamber,
Endeavour House, 8 Russell Road, Ipswich on Tuesday, 21 November 2017 at 6.00 pm
For those wishing to attend, prayers will be said at 5:55 p.m. prior to the commencement
of the Council meeting.
Yours faithfully

Arthur Charvonia
Chief Executive

The Council, members of the public and the press may record/film/photograph or
broadcast this meeting when the public and the press are not lawfully excluded.
Any member of the public who attends a meeting and objects to being filmed should
advise the Committee Clerk.

AGENDA
PART 1
ITEM

BUSINESS
Page(s)

1

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
To receive apologies for absence.

2

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS BY COUNCILLORS

3

TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 24
OCTOBER 2017 - TO FOLLOW

4

ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE CHAIRMAN AND LEADER

5

TO RECEIVE NOTIFICATION OF PETITIONS IN ACCORDANCE
WITH COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule No. 10, the Chief
Executive will report the receipt of any petitions. There can be no
debate or comment upon these matters at the Council meeting.

6

QUESTIONS BY THE PUBLIC IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL
PROCEDURE RULES
The Chairmen of Committees to answer any questions by the public
of which notice has been given no later than midday three clear
working days before the day of the meeting in accordance with
Council Procedure Rule No. 11.

7

QUESTIONS BY COUNCILLORS
COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES

IN

ACCORDANCE

WITH

The Chairman of the Council, the Chairmen of Committees and SubCommittees and Portfolio Holders to answer any questions on any matters
in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affect the
District of which due notice has been given in accordance with Council
Procedure Rule No. 12.
8

RECOMMENDATION AND REPORT FROM JOINT AUDIT AND
STANDARDS COMMITTEE

1-8

ITEM

BUSINESS
Page(s)

a

JAC/17/10 MID YEAR REPORT ON TREASURY MANAGEMENT 2017/18
(pages 9 – 30)
At its meeting on 13 November 2017, the Joint Audit and Standards Committee
considered Paper JAC/17/10, the Mid Year Report on Treasury Management for
2017/18.
The deliberations of the Committee will be reported at the Council meeting
together with any amendments requested by Members.
Note: It is a requirement of the Code of Practice on Treasury Management that
full Council notes the Mid Year position.
RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL
That it be noted that Treasury Management activity for the first six months
of 2017/18 was in accordance with the approved Treasury Management
Strategy, and that, except for one occasion when Babergh District Council
exceeded its daily bank account limit with Lloyds by £120k for one day, as
mentioned in Appendix D, paragraph 1.1. of Paper JAC/17/10, both Councils
have complied with all Treasury Management Indicators for this period.

9

BC/17/19 BOUNDARY REVIEW – RESPONSE TO STAGE TWO
CONSULTATION ON WARDING PATTERNS

31 - 70

Leader of the Council – Jennie Jenkins
10

BC/17/20 FUTURE OPTIONS FOR 'WORKING TOGETHER'
BETWEEN BABERGH AND MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCILS

71 - 114

Leader of the Council – Jennie Jenkins
11

BC/17/21 DRAFT TIMETABLE OF MEETINGS 2018/19

115
116

-

Members are asked to approve the draft Timetable (Paper
BC/17/21) attached, prepared by the Corporate Manager Democratic Services.
Cabinet Member for Organisational Delivery – Peter Patrick
12

APPOINTMENTS

Note: The date of the next meeting is Tuesday 19 December 2017 at 5.30 p.m.

For further information on any of the Part 1 items listed above, please contact Committee
Services on 01473 296372 or via e-mail at Committees@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk.

Agenda Item 3
BABERGH DISTRICT COUNCIL

BABERGH COUNCIL

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE BABERGH COUNCIL HELD IN KING EDMUND
CHAMBER, ENDEAVOUR HOUSE, 8 RUSSELL ROAD, IPSWICH ON TUESDAY, 24
OCTOBER 2017
PRESENT:

Peter Burgoyne - Chairman
Melanie Barrett
Tony Bavington
Sue Burgoyne
Tina Campbell
Michael Creffield
Derek Davis
Alan Ferguson
Kathryn Grandon
Bryn Hurren
Richard Kemp
Margaret Maybury
John Nunn
Jan Osborne
Peter Patrick
Nick Ridley
John Ward

Simon Barrett
Peter Beer
David Busby
Sue Carpendale
Luke Cresswell
Siân Dawson
Barry Gasper
Michael Holt
Jennie Jenkins
James Long
Mark Newman
Adrian Osborne
Lee Parker
Stephen Plumb
Fenella Swan
Stephen Williams

The following Members were unable to be present: Clive Arthey, Sue Ayres, Tom Burrows,
John Hinton, Frank Lawrenson, Alastair McCraw, David Rose, William Shropshire, Ray
Smith and Harriet Steer.
32

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS BY COUNCILLORS
None declared.

33

MINUTES
RESOLVED
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 18 July 2017 be confirmed and signed
as a correct record.

34

MINUTES
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 7 August 2017 be confirmed and
signed as a correct record.

35

BC/17/14 ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE CHAIRMAN
The Chairman referred to Paper BC/17/8 outlining recent events attended by the
Chairman and Vice-Chairman.

Page 1

He welcomed to the meeting Luke Cresswell, newly elected Member for Sudbury
South, and Jan Robinson, Corporate Manager – Democratic Services.
36

TO RECEIVE NOTIFICATION OF PETITIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL
PROCEDURE RULES
None received.

37

QUESTIONS BY THE PUBLIC IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL PROCEDURE
RULES
None received.

38

QUESTIONS BY COUNCILLORS
PROCEDURE RULES

IN

ACCORDANCE

WITH

COUNCIL

Question from Peter Beer to Lee Parker, Cabinet Member for Planning
In the interests of transparency and openness please could you tell me the total cost
to Babergh taxpayers of the three Planning Committees, plus site inspection, judicial
review and all back office costs related to planning application No B/16/01254/FUL.
Please provide a breakdown of this total cost and including all the in-house paper
transactions costs and time.
Answer
Total costs of the three committees, judicial review and back office costs: £6450
Breakdown:
Planning officer time:
Enforcement involvement:
Legal:
Committee services:

£730
£270
£1700 + £3500
£250

This does not include Councillors’ mileage for the site visit (because that hasn’t
worked its way through the system yet), but that is unlikely to be more than £50 so
the overall costs are broadly £6,500.
Supplementary Question
Continuing the theme in the interests of public perception and transparency, could
you please now acknowledge that at the original Planning Committee that I chaired
back in November 2016 the Committee Members and I were given very bad legal
advice by the then legal planning officer of the day and that we were not wrong in
our actions and decisions.
Answer
No.

Page 2

39

MOTIONS ON NOTICE
A motion as set out below was moved by Councillor Luke Cresswell and seconded
by Councillor Tony Bavington, the requisite notice thereof having been given in
accordance with Council Procedure Rule No 13.1. Councillor Cresswell explained
the purpose of the Motion.
“That this Council resolves to establish, without undue delay, a timetable for
ensuring that the employees of all its contractors are paid at least the Living Wage in
order that Babergh is in a position to declare itself a Living Wage employer by no
later than one year from today.”
The Chairman of the Council determined that the Motion be referred without
discussion to the Cabinet, for consideration and report back to the Council.

40

REPORT FROM THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE CHAIRMAN
Councillor Barry Gasper, Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee,
introduced his report circulated prior to the commencement of the meeting, a copy of
which is appended to the Minutes.
Councillor Gasper responded to Members’ questions. The report was noted.

41

BC/17/15 REVISING AND UPDATING THE COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION (CTR)
SCHEME FOR WORKING AGE HOUSEHOLDS
Councillor Peter Patrick, Cabinet Member for Finance, introduced Paper BC/17/15
seeking Council approval to undertake a public consultation on proposed changes to
the Council Tax Reduction Scheme, with a view to adopting a revised Scheme with
effect from 1 April 2018.
RESOLVED
That public consultation be undertaken on the following proposed changes to
the Council Tax Reduction (CTR) Scheme:




42

Align the BDC Working Age Council Tax Reduction Scheme with the
Housing Benefit Scheme
Increase the maximum entitlement for working age CTR Scheme from
91.5% to 95%
Introduce a minimum weekly award of £1 per week
Make provision for Universal Credit

BC/17/16 LAWSHALL NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
Councillor Lee Parker, Cabinet Member for Planning, introduced Paper BC/17/16
updating Members on the progress of the Lawshall Neighbourhood Plan which was
recommended for adoption, subject to a favourable referendum result.

Page 3

Councillor Parker was pleased to report the overwhelming level of support for
adoption, the referendum results being as follows:Total number of votes cast
Number of votes cast in favour of a YES
Number of votes cast in favour of a NO

236 (29.2% turnout)
218 (92.7%)
17 (7.2%)

Councillor Parker responded to Members’ general questions about various related
matters including the effect of the current Local Plan consultation on the preparation
of Neighbourhood Plans. He confirmed that Parishes were still being encouraged to
proceed, and that Neighbourhood Plans had a specific weight alongside an adopted
Local Plan which some other documents did not.
Councillor Long expressed Lawshall’s gratitude for the support the Parish had
received from Babergh and encouraged other villages to consider engaging in the
process.
RESOLVED

43

(1)

That the Lawshall Neighbourhood Plan be formally made (adopted) as
part of the District Council’s Development Plan and used to help
determine planning applications where relevant.

(2)

That the Final Decision Statement (Appendix 1 to Paper BC/17/16) be
updated to include the referendum results and published with immediate
effect.

BC/17/17 POLITICAL BALANCE AND COMPOSITION OF COMMITTEES
The Monitoring Officer introduced Paper BC/17/17 which set out the revised political
balance and composition of Committees following the Sudbury South by-election on
7 September 2017. Appendix 2 to the report was circulated at the meeting.
RESOLVED
(1)

That the Committees’ size and numerical allocation of seats be
approved as detailed in Appendix 1 to this report.

(2)

That the following revisions to the appointments to Committees as set
out in Appendix 2 to the report be noted:



David Rose (Independent) is no longer a member of the Planning
Committee
Luke Cresswell is appointed to the Labour seat on the Planning
Committee
David Rose (Independent) replaces Alastair McCraw (Independent)
on the Joint Audit and Standards Committee.

Page 4

44

BC/17/18 APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL
The Leader of the Council, Jennie Jenkins, introduced Paper BC/17/18, relating to
the proposed appointment of a new Panel.
The Assistant Director – Law and Governance referred to Report C/68/17 appointing
the IRP to Mid Suffolk District Council. Members were advised that the names of the
Panel Members were included in the Mid Suffolk District Council report.
RESOLVED
That the Independent Remuneration Panel appointed by Mid Suffolk District
Council on 22 September 2016 also be appointed by Babergh District Council.

45

APPOINTMENT OF COUNCILLOR TO OUTSIDE BODY
RESOLVED
That Margaret Maybury – Cabinet Member for Communities be appointed as
the Babergh representative on the Western Suffolk Community Safety
Partnership (replacing Jan Osborne).

The business of the meeting was concluded at 6.35 p.m.
……………………………………..
Chairman

Page 5

Babergh Council – 24 October 2017
Agenda Item 10



Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chairman Report to Council
24 October 2017
This is the first report to Full council, which spans 5 months. Therefore I will not go into the
detail of each topic considered, but set out what has happened, since I took over
Chairmanship in June and indicate some of the issues addressed. In future I will be happy to
present particular scrutiny topics in detail, if Members consider it important.



Myself as Chairman and Alastair McCraw as Vice-Chairman, provide a balanced approach
to Scrutiny. This should reassure members that that there is no political emphasis on the
scrutiny process.



The role of scrutiny is even more important than before, having adopted the Cabinet system
and becoming a legal requirement. Therefore, it is essential that we have a robust scrutiny
process and active, enthusiastic and lively Overview and Scrutiny Committee members. To
date we have suffered from changes to the makeup of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
and poor attendance by some members.



The Overview and Scrutiny Committee now meets monthly. This means that to get through
the work load, it is necessary for all members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to
actively participate in the scrutiny process. This requires Members to work outside the
formal Overview and Scrutiny Committee on specific topics, to develop in depth
assessments. This allows meaningful questions to be addressed at the formal Overview and
Scrutiny meeting.



To improve the scrutiny process to that previously adopted, we aim to:
o Scrutinise Cabinet decisions. Relevant Cabinet Members are expected to support the
scrutiny process at each meeting. This initiates a process where Cabinet Members
get used representing their portfolio in the scrutiny process, on a regular basis.
o Undertake ongoing scrutiny tracking, through the life of a topic, particularly at key
decision points. This places emphasis on individual committee members who take a
lead on particular topics, throughout the topics life.
o Engage and review with Officers and others, outside of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee meetings to undertake pre-scrutiny in order to improve the quality of the
scrutiny process.
o Provide the opportunity to introduce a topic where there is concern, in a timely
fashion.
o Provide a communications link between the Scrutiny and Audit Committee, since
they are both, to some extent, fulfilling similar objectives.
o Ensure good communication between Babergh and Mid Suffolk Scrutiny
Committees. Here the Chairs and Vice Chairs meet on a semi regular basis each
month to discuss the Scrutiny programme and common issues.

Page 6



The topics to be considered have been planned on the basis of:
o Considering outstanding topics from the previous scrutiny committees.
o Considering Cabinet decisions for a rolling three months – From the forthcoming
decisions List
o Evaluating the Significant Risk Register
o Considering topical and Members topics of concern.



There have been 4 Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings since I was appointed
Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chairman. The first taking place in June with others in
July, September and October. August was cancelled, because of the unavailability of
personnel to support scrutiny of the Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership, which
is a legal requirement.



Three Topics have been Scoped, including:
o Voids
o Homelessness and Bed & Breakfast & Accommodation.
o Supporting Business Growth



Seven topics have been scrutinised to date, with 3 requiring further action.



The seven topics with associated issues in red include:
o Development of the Scrutiny Forward Plan. (See the plan for the next four months
and other topics)
o Housing Revenue Account 30 year business and financial plan. (Concern regarding
non-linear projections and validation, now resolved). (1)
o Homelessness & Bed and Breakfast review and the requirements of the new
legislation coming in on the first of April 2018. (Seems to be progressing well, but
will be reassessed in November. Awaiting a Report to be issued)
o Risk Assessment – where it was identified that the Council was at risk, because it
was not possible to Audit Risk assessments. (This has now been partially addressed
by John Snell and the Senior Management Team, by recording minutes of Risk
assessment meetings, but there is still some concern regarding all reports issued. It is
important to have confidence in the Risk assessments and statements). (2)
o Void Times in Council Properties – (Significant problems with high Void times,
definition of remedial action, and implementation. In particular concern with the
ongoing lack of progress in reducing Void times; particularly since Void times had
increased since the previous Scrutiny review, undertaken during 2016. This problem
is now being addressed by new management team. A Scrutiny Committee member
has been appointed to track progress and this topic will come back to Scrutiny within
the next 6 months, to assess progress). (3)
o Neighbourhood Planning (Review of the Task and Finish Group finding show a need
to ensure that Parish Councils understand the importance of developing
Neighbourhood Plans and what the benefits are. They are particularly important for
Core Villages. Further engagement with Parish Councils is planned).

Page 7

o Western Suffolk Community Safety Partnership. (Babergh are currently staffed to
organise individual reviews of tragic events, which is considered appropriate. Shared
responsibility is with the Members of the West Suffolk Crime and Disorder
Partnership. Funding is mainly by application to e.g. The Police & Crime
Commissioner).


Ten topics have been planned for scrutiny over the next four months to February.
o Supporting Business Growth
o Report on the current status of Interims & Consultants
o CIL – A review of the impact and delivery of the CIL regime for infrastructure.
o Review of preparations to implement the Homelessness Act.
o Review of the legal Services Partnership.
o Community Grants
o Performance Management
o Draft Joint Medium Term Financial Strategy and Budget
o Investment Strategy Business Plan, before presentation to full council.
o Waste Strategy Review



Other topics identified include;
o Void Times in Council Properties
o Fuel poverty – Consider if further action is needed at this stage, in the light of it
being incorporated into a Suffolk-wide strategy
o Home ownership review
o Leisure Strategy – when its timetabling in the Forthcoming Decisions List is known
o Babergh and Mid Suffolk Building Services.
o Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Review.
o Costs of the move to Endeavour House
o Reviewing the impact the office move has had on staff with the aim of learning
points for other future major change activities.
o Pre-application planning process
o Leisure Strategy - To scrutinise the paper presented to Cabinet
o Etc.



There will be other topics, which arise and will be dealt with in a timely manner as
necessary.



Finally, if any Member has a concern, which requires consideration for scrutiny, please
contact Alastair or myself. Also in future I will be happy to discuss specific topics
considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at Council as necessary.

Page 8

Agenda Item 8a
BABERGH DISTRICT COUNCIL and MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCIL

From: Cabinet Members - Finance

Report Number:

JAC/17/10

To:

Date of meeting:

13 November 2017

Joint Audit and Standards
Committee

MID YEAR REPORT ON TREASURY MANAGEMENT 2017/18
1.

Purpose of Report

1.1. The Code of Practice on Treasury Management requires local authorities to
present a mid-year report on treasury management activities to those Members
charged with scrutinising this area of activity. This report fulfils that requirement
and sets out treasury management activities for the first half of 2017/18.
2.

Recommendations

2.1 That Mid Suffolk District Council Treasury Management activity for the first six
months of 2017/18 was in accordance with the approved Treasury Management
Strategy, and that the Council has complied with all the Treasury Management
Indicators for this period be recommended to Council for noting.
2.2 That Babergh District Council Treasury Management activity for the first six
months of 2017/18 was in accordance with the approved Treasury Management
Strategy, and that, except for one occasion when the Council exceeded their
daily bank account limit with Lloyds by £120k for one day, as mentioned in
Appendix D, paragraph 1.1., the Council has complied with all the Treasury
Management Indicators for this period be recommended to Council for noting.

3.

Financial implications

3.1

As outlined in this report.

4.

Legal implications

4.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report.

Page 9

5.

Risk Management

5.1 This report is most closely linked with the Councils’ Significant Business Risks no.
5f. If we do not understand our financial position and respond in a timely and
effective way, then we will be unable to deliver the entirety of the Joint Strategic
Plan. It should be noted that changes in funding requirements, interest rates and
other external factors can impact on the medium term financial strategy and future
budgets. Further key risks around treasury management, are set out below:

Risk description

Likelihood

Impact

Mitigation measures

If the Councils lose the
investments they hold then the
loss of income could impact on
their ability to fund and deliver
services.

Highly
Unlikely
(1)

Bad (3)

The Councils have strict
lending criteria, investing
only in high credit rated
institutions.

If the Councils achieve a poor
return on their investments, then
there will be fewer resources
available to deliver services
(applicable to Babergh only).

Highly
Unlikely
(1)

Bad (3)

Focus is on security and
liquidity, followed by yield,
and careful cash flow
management is undertaken
throughout the year.

If the Councils have liquidity
problems, then they will be
unable to meet their short-term
liabilities.

Unlikely
(2)

Noticeable As above.
(2)

If the Councils incur higher than
expected borrowing costs, then
there will be fewer resources
available to deliver services.

Unlikely
(2)

Noticeable Research is undertaken to
(2)
borrow at the lowest rates
available. The Councils are
able to borrow from the
Public Works Loan Board
(PWLB), whose rates are
very low and can be on a
fixed or variable basis.

6.

Consultations

6.1

Regular meetings have taken place with our Treasury advisors, Arlingclose,
who also provide important updates on treasury management issues as they
arise.

7.

Equality Analysis

7.1

There are no equality and diversity implications, as the contents and
recommendations of this report do not impact on those with protected
characteristics.

Page 10

8.

Shared Service / Partnership Implications

8.1 This is a joint report on activity. The Joint Treasury Management Strategy and
related operations are handled by the integrated in-house Finance Team.
9.

Links to Joint Strategic Plan

9.1

Ensuring that the Councils have the resources available is what underpins the ability
to achieve the priorities set out in the Joint Strategic Plan.

10. Key Information
10.1 The Joint Treasury Management Strategy for 2017/18 was approved at each Full
Council in February 2017.
10.2 Several factors affect the strategy and activities, including the regulatory framework,
economic conditions, best practice and interest rate/liquidity risk. The attached
appendices summarise the regulatory framework, economic background and
information on key activities for the first six months of 2017/18.
10.3 The Joint Treasury Management outturn report for 2016/17 was presented to
Members at the Joint Audit and Standards Committee on 17 July 2017.
10.4 The Treasury Management Indicators aim to ensure that the capital investments of
local authorities are affordable, prudent and sustainable and that treasury
management decisions are taken in accordance with good professional practice.
10.5 Appendix D shows the position on key Treasury Management Indicators for the first
six months of 2017/18.
10.6 The following key points relating to activity for the first half of the year are set out
below:


The UK economy has continued to grow but at a much slower pace in the
first six months of 2017/18 with output growing by 0.2% in Q1and 0.3% in
Q2. However, the recent headlines for Q3 announced at the end of October
indicate that this has increased to 0.4%.



The result of the EU referendum has resulted in growth forecasts being
downgraded as 2017 has progressed.



Investment of surplus funds - As market conditions and credit ratings have
changed during the year, institutions that the Councils invest with and the
period of the investments have been reviewed.



Credit risk scores were within the benchmark A- credit ratings.



Babergh’s debt reduced by £6.2m and Mid Suffolk’s by £8.15m due to
income exceeding expenditure, which is the normal cash flow profile.



No new long-term external borrowing.

Page 11

10.7 In terms of the investment of surplus funds, section 2.3 onwards in Appendix A sets
out the issues that are impacting on current and future activity.
10.8 Money market funds, short-term deposits and call accounts are used to make short
term investments on a daily basis.

11. Appendices

Title

Location

(a) Background, Economy and Outlook

Attached

(b) Debt Management

Attached

(c) Investment Activity

Attached

(d) Treasury Management indicators

Attached
Attached

(e) Glossary

12. Background Documents
None.
Authorship:
Name: Katherine Steel
Position: Assistant Director Corporate
Resources

E-mail:
katherine.steel@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk

Name: Melissa Evans
Position: Corporate Manager –
Financial Services

E-mail:
melissa.evans@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk

Name: Sue Palmer
Position: Senior Financial Services
Officer

E-mail:
sue.palmer@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk

Page 12

Appendix A
Background, Economy and Outlook
1.

Background

1.1

Both Councils have adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice
2011 Edition (the CIPFA Code) which requires the Councils to approve treasury
management mid-year and annual outturn reports.

1.2

The Councils’ Joint Treasury Management Strategy for 2017/18 was approved
at full Council meetings held by each Council in February 2017.

1.3

The Councils define their treasury management activities in line with the
CIPFA definition as: “the management of the organisation’s investments and
cash flows, it’s banking, money market and capital market transactions; the
effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of
optimum performance associated with those risks.”

1.4

In addition to reporting on risk management related to treasury activities, the
Treasury Management Code also requires the Councils to report on any
financial instruments entered into to manage treasury risks.

1.5

Both Councils have borrowed and invested substantial sums of money and are
therefore exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested funds and the
revenue effect of changing interest rates. The successful identification,
monitoring and control of risk are therefore central to both Councils’ treasury
management strategy.

1.6

The instruments and the limits with individual counterparties approved in the
2017/18 Treasury Management Strategy of each Council are as follows:
Type of Instrument

Deposits with banks and building societies
AAA rated money market funds
Deposits with other local authorities
Treasury bills
Debt Management Account Deposit Facility
Pooled Funds
Registered Providers
Corporates

Page 13

Babergh
Limit

Mid Suffolk
Limit

£2m
£2m
£1m
No limit
No limit
£5m
£5m
£1m

£1m
£2m
£1m
No limit
No limit
£5m
£5m
£1m

Appendix A
1.7

The total limits for non-specified investments are shown in the following below:

Non-Specified Investment Limits

Total investments without credit ratings
Total non – specified investments
Total loans to unrated corporates
2.

Economic Commentary

2.1

Economic Backdrop

Babergh &
Mid Suffolk
Limit
£10m
£10m
£1m

2.1.1 Commodity prices fluctuated over the period with oil falling below $45 a barrel
before inching back up to $58 a barrel. UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) index
rose with the data print for August showing CPI at 2.9%, its highest since June
2013 as the fall in the value of sterling following the June 2016 referendum
result continued to feed through into higher import prices. The new inflation
measure CPIH, which includes owner occupiers’ housing costs, was at 2.7%.
2.1.2 The unemployment rate fell to 4.3%, its lowest since May 1975, but the squeeze
on consumers intensified as average earnings grew at 2.5%, below the rate of
inflation. Economic activity expanded at a much slower pace as evidenced by
Q1 and Q2 GDP growth of 0.2% and 0.3% respectively. With the dominant
services sector accounting for 79% of GDP, the strength of consumer spending
remains vital to growth. With household savings falling and real wage growth
negative, there are concerns that these will be a constraint on economic activity
in the second half of calendar year 2017.
2.1.3 The Bank of England made no change to monetary policy at its meetings in the
first half of the financial year. The vote to keep Bank Rate at 0.25% narrowed to
5-3 in June highlighting that some MPC members were more concerned about
rising inflation than the risks to growth. Although at September’s meeting the
Committee voted 7-2 in favour of keeping Bank Rate unchanged, the MPC
changed their rhetoric, implying a rise in Bank Rate in "the coming months". The
Council’s treasury advisor Arlingclose are not convinced the UK’s economic
outlook justifies such a move at this stage, but the Bank’s interpretation of the
data seems to have shifted.

Page 14

Appendix A
2.1.4 In contrast, near-term global growth prospects improved. The US Federal
Reserve (Fed) increased its target range of official interest rates in June for the
second time in 2017 by 25bps (basis points) to between 1% and 1.25% and,
despite US inflation hitting a soft patch with core CPI at 1.7%, a further similar
increase is expected in its December 2017 meeting. The Fed also confirmed
that it would be starting a reversal of its vast Quantitative Easing programme
and reduce the $4.2 trillion of bonds it acquired by initially cutting the amount it
reinvests by $10bn a month.
2.1.5 Geopolitical tensions escalated in August as the US and North Korea
exchanged escalating verbal threats over reports about enhancements in North
Korea’s missile programme. The provocation from both sides helped wipe off
nearly $1 trillion from global equity markets but benefited safe-haven assets
such as gold, the US dollar and the Japanese yen. Tensions remained high,
with North Korea’s threat to fire missiles towards the US naval base in Guam,
its recent missile tests over Japan and a further testing of its latent nuclear
capabilities.
2.1.6 Prime Minister Theresa May called an unscheduled General Election in June, to
resolve uncertainty but the surprise result has led to a minority Conservative
government in coalition with the Democratic Unionist Party. This clearly results
in an enhanced level of political uncertainty. Although the potential for a socalled hard Brexit is diminished, lack of clarity over future trading partnerships,
in particular customs agreements with the rest of the EU block, is denting
business sentiment and investment. The reaction from the markets on the UK
election’s outcome was fairly muted, business confidence now hinges on the
progress (or not) of Brexit negotiations, the ultimate ‘divorce bill’ for the exit and
whether new trade treaties and customs arrangements are successfully
concluded to the UK’s benefit.
2.1.7 In the face of a struggling economy and Brexit-related uncertainty, Arlingclose
expects the Bank of England to take only a very measured approach to any
monetary policy tightening, any increase will be gradual and limited as the
interest rate backdrop will have to provide substantial support to the UK
economy through the Brexit transition.
2.2

Financial Markets

2.2.1 Gilt yields displayed significant volatility over the six-month period with the
appearing change in sentiment in the Bank of England’s outlook for interest
rates, the push-pull from expectations of tapering of Quantitative Easing (QE) in
the US and Europe and from geopolitical tensions, which also had an impact.
The yield on the 5-year gilts fell to 0.35% in mid-June, but then rose to 0.80%
by the end of September. The 10-year gilts similarly rose from their lows of
0.93% to 1.38% at the end of the quarter, and those on 20-year gilts from
1.62% to 1.94%.

Page 15

Appendix A
2.2.2 The FTSE 100 nevertheless powered away reaching a record high of 7548 in
May but dropped back to 7377 at the end of September. Money market rates
have remained low: 1-month, 3-month and 12-month LIBID rates have
averaged 0.25%, 0.30% and 0.65% over the period from January to 21
September.
2.3

Credit Background

2.3.1 UK bank credit default swaps continued their downward trend, reaching threeyear lows by the end of June. Bank share prices have not moved in any
particular pattern.
2.3.2 There were a few credit rating changes during the quarter. The significant
change was the downgrade by Moody’s to the UK sovereign rating in
September from Aa1 to Aa2 which resulted in subsequent downgrades to subsovereign entities including local authorities. Moody’s downgraded Standard
Chartered Bank’s long-term rating to A1 from Aa3 on the expectation that the
bank’s profitability will be lower following management’s efforts to de-risk their
balance sheet. The agency also affirmed Royal Bank of Scotland’s and
NatWest’s long-term ratings at Baa1, placed Lloyds Bank’s A1 rating on review
for upgrade, revised the outlook of Santander UK plc, and Nationwide and
Coventry Building Society from negative to stable but downgraded the long-term
rating of Leeds BS from A2 to A3.
2.3.3 Ring-fencing, which requires the larger UK banks to separate their core retail
banking activity from the rest of their business, is expected to be implemented
within the next year. In May, Arlingclose advised the Councils to reduce the
maximum duration of unsecured investments with Bank of Scotland, HSBC
Bank and Lloyds Bank from 13 months to 6 months, as until banks’ new
structures are finally determined and published, the different credit risks of the
‘retail’ and ‘investment’ banks cannot be known for certain. Neither council has
placed investments with these banks during the first half of the year.
2.3.4 The new EU regulations for Money Market Funds (MMFs) were finally approved
and published in July and existing funds will have to be compliant by no later
than 21 January 2019. The key features include Low Volatility Net Asset Value
(LVNAV) Money Market Funds which will be permitted to maintain a constant
dealing NAV, providing they meet strict new criteria and minimum liquidity
requirements. MMFs will not be prohibited from having an external fund rating
(as had been suggested in draft regulations). Arlingclose expects most of the
short-term MMFs it recommends to be converted to the LVNAV structure and
awaits confirmation from each fund.

Page 16

Appendix A
3.

Outlook for the remainder of 2017/18

3.1

The UK economy faces a challenging outlook as the minority government
continues to negotiate the country's exit from the European Union. Both
consumer and business confidence remain subdued. Household consumption
growth, the driver of UK GDP growth, has softened following a contraction in
real wages. Savings rates are at an all-time low and real earnings growth (i.e.
after inflation) struggles in the face of higher inflation.

3.2

This decision is still very data dependant and Arlingclose are, for now,
maintaining its central case for Bank Rate at 0.25% whilst introducing near-term
upside risks to the forecast as shown below. Arlingclose’s central case is for gilt
yields to remain broadly stable across the medium term, but there may be near
term volatility due to shifts in interest rate expectations.

4.

Regulatory Updates

4.1

MiFID II

4.1.1 Local authorities are currently treated by regulated financial services firms (the
firm) as professional clients who can “opt down” to be treated as retail clients
instead. However, from 3 January 2018, as a result of the second Markets in
Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID II), local authorities will be treated as
retail clients who can “opt up” to be professional clients, providing that they
meet certain criteria. Regulated financial services firms include banks, brokers,
advisers, fund managers and custodians, but only where they are selling,
arranging, advising or managing designated investments. In order to opt up to
professional, the Councils must have an investment balance of at least £10
million each and the person authorised to make investment decisions on behalf
of the Councils must have at least one year’s relevant professional experience.
In addition, the firm must assess that that person has the expertise, experience
and knowledge to make investment decisions and understand the risks
involved.
4.1.2 The main additional protection for retail clients is a duty on the firm to ensure
that the investment is “suitable” for the client. However, local authorities are not
protected by the Financial Services Compensation Scheme nor are they eligible
to complain to the Financial Ombudsman Service whether they are retail or
professional clients.

Page 17

Appendix A
4.1.3 It is also likely that retail clients will face increased costs and potentially
restricted access to certain products including money market funds, pooled
funds, treasury bills, bonds, shares and to financial advice. The Councils have
declined to opt down to retail client status in the past as the costs were thought
to outweigh the benefits.
4.1.4 Both councils meet the conditions to opt up to professional status and intend to
do so to maintain their current MiFID status.
4.2

CIPFA Consultation on Prudential and Treasury Management Codes

4.2.1 In February 2017 CIPFA canvassed views on the relevance, adoption and
practical application of the Treasury Management and Prudential Codes and
after reviewing responses they launched a further consultation on changes to
the codes in August with a deadline for responses of 30 September 2017. Both
Councils submitted a response to the consultation, which can be found on our
website.
4.2.2 The proposed changes to the Prudential Code include the production of a new
high-level Capital Strategy report to Full Council which will cover the basics of
the capital programme and treasury management. The prudential indicators for
capital expenditure and the authorised borrowing limit would be included in this
report but other indicators may be delegated to another committee. There are
plans to drop certain prudential indicators, however local indicators are
recommended for ring fenced funds (including the HRA) and for group
accounts. Other proposed changes include applying the principles of the Code
to subsidiaries.
4.2.3 Proposed changes to the Treasury Management Code include the potential for
non-treasury investments such as commercial investments in properties in the
definition of “investments” as well as loans made or shares bought for service
purposes. Another proposed change is the inclusion of financial guarantees as
instruments requiring risk management and addressed within the Joint Treasury
Management Strategy. Approval of the technical detail of the Joint Treasury
Management Strategy may be delegated to a committee rather than needing
approval of Full Council. There are also plans to drop or alter some of the
current treasury management indicators.
4.2.4 CIPFA intends to publish the two revised Codes towards the end of 2017 for
implementation in 2018/19, although CIPFA plans to put transitional
arrangements in place for reports that are required to be approved before the
start of the 2018/19 financial year. The Department of Communities and Local
Government (DCLG) and CIPFA wish to have a more rigorous framework in
place for the treatment of commercial investments as soon as is practical. It is
understood that DCLG will be revising its Investment Guidance (and its MRP
guidance) for local authorities in England.

Page 18

Appendix A
5.

Local Context

5.1

On 31 March 2017 Babergh had net borrowing of £76.739m and Mid Suffolk
£96.235m, arising from their revenue and capital income and expenditure. The
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the Capital
Financing Requirement (CFR), while usable reserves and working capital are
the underlying resources available for investment. These factors are
summarised in Table 1 below.
Table 1: Underlying need to borrow
31.3.17
Babergh
£m

Balance Sheet Summary
General Fund CFR

18.609

22.241

HRA CFR

86.253

86.759

Total CFR

104.862

109.000

(Less): Usable reserves

(22.254)

(22.723)

(5.869)
76.739

9.958
96.235

(Less) / Add: Working capital
Net borrowing

5.2

31.3.17
Mid Suffolk
£m

The Councils strategy is to maintain borrowing and investments below their
underlying levels (as shown in Appendix D), sometimes known as internal
borrowing, to reduce risk and keep interest costs low. The treasury
management position at 30 September 2017 and the change over the first half
of the year is shown in Table 2 below.
Table 2: Treasury Management Summary

Babergh
Long-term borrowing
Short-term borrowing
Total borrowing

31.3.17
Balance Movement
£m
£m
86.797
(0.250)
6.000
(6.000)
92.797
(6.250)

Long-term investments
Short-term investments
Cash and Cash equivalents
Total Investments

9.638
2.700
3.389
15.727

Net borrowing

77.070

Page 19

0.000
2.100
(2.515)
(0.415)

30.9.17
Balance
£m
86.547
0.000
86.547

30.9.17
Rate
%
3.21%
0.43%

9.638
4.800
0.874
15.312

5.80%
0.18%
0.14%

71.235

Appendix A

Mid Suffolk
Long-term borrowing
Short-term borrowing
Total borrowing

31.3.17
Balance Movement
£m
£m
74.887
(0.650)
22.500
(7.500)
97.387
(8.150)

Long-term investments
Short-term investments
Cash and Cash equivalents
Total Investments

9.642
3.300
2.586
15.528

Net borrowing

81.859

Page 20

0.000
(0.300)
0.019
(0.281)

30.9.17
Balance
£m
74.237
15.000
89.237

30.9.17
Rate
%
3.55%
0.34%

9.642
3.000
2.605
15.247

5.79%
0.22%
0.14%

73.990

Appendix B
1.

Debt Management

1.1

At 30 September 2017 Babergh held £86.547m of loans, a decrease of £6.25m
on 31 March 2017. Mid Suffolk held £89.237m of loans, a decrease of £8.15m,
due to income exceeding expenditure, which is the normal cash flow profile.
These decreases reflect the changes for funding of the previous years’ capital
programmes. The borrowing position at 30 September 2017 is show in Table 3
below.
Table 3: Borrowing Position at 30th September 2017

Babergh

Public Works Loan Board
Local authorities (short term)
Total borrowing

Mid Suffolk

Public Works Loan Board
Banks (LOBO)
Local authorities (short term)
Total borrowing

31.3.17
Balance

Movement

£m
86.797
6.000
92.797
31.3.17
Balance

£m
(0.250)
(6.000)
(6.250)

Movement

£m
70.887
4.000
22.500
97.387

£m
(0.650)
0.000
(7.500)
(8.150)

30.9.17
Balance

30.9.17
Weighted
Average
Maturity
years
15.54
0

30.9.17
Balance

30.9.17
Weighted
Average
Maturity
years
19.30
60.92
0.06

30.9.17
Weighted
Average
Rate
£m
%
86.547
3.21%
0.000
0.43%
86.547
30.9.17
Weighted
Average
Rate
£m
%
70.237
3.52%
4.000
4.21%
15.000
0.34%
89.237

1.2

The Councils objective when borrowing has been to strike an appropriately low
risk balance between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty
over the period for which funds are required, with flexibility to renegotiate loans
being a secondary objective.

1.3

All new loans for Babergh and Mid Suffolk were taken as short term local
authority borrowing to take advantage of low interest rates during the first half of
2017/18. This strategy enabled the Councils to reduce net borrowing costs
(despite foregone investment income) and reduce overall treasury risk. The
“cost of carry” analysis performed by the Councils treasury management
advisor Arlingclose did not indicate any value in borrowing in advance for future
years’ planned expenditure and therefore none was taken.

1.4

Mid Suffolk continues to hold £4million of LOBO loans (Lender’s Option
Borrower’s Option) where the lender has the option to propose an increase in
the interest rate at set dates, following which the Council has the option to either
accept the new rate or to repay the loan at no additional cost. The bank did not
exercise their option in the first half of 2017/18.

Page 21

Appendix C
1.

Investment Activity

1.1

At 30 September, the Councils held £15.312m and £15.247m invested funds
respectively, representing income received in advance of expenditure plus
balances and reserves held.

1.2

During the first half of 2017/18 the Councils investment balances ranged
between £12.457m and £21.156m for Babergh, and between £12.068m and
£22.556m for Mid Suffolk, due to timing differences between income and
expenditure.
The investment position during the half year is shown in Table 4 below.
Table 4: Investment Position

Babergh

Banks and Building Societies
Government
Money Market Funds
Other Pooled Funds
Total Investments

Mid Suffolk

Banks and Building Societies
Government
Money Market Funds
Other Pooled Funds
Total Investments

1.3

31.3.17
30.9.17
30.9.17
Balance Movement Balance Weighted
Average
Rate
£m
£m
£m
%
1.389
(0.515)
0.874
0.15%
2.000
(2.000)
0.000
0.10%
2.700
2.100
4.800
0.18%
9.638
0.000
9.638
5.80%
15.727
(0.415) 15.312
31.3.17
30.9.17
30.9.17
Balance Movement Balance Weighted
Average
Rate
£m
£m
£m
%
0.586
2.019
2.605
0.15%
2.000
(2.000)
0.000
0.10%
3.300
(0.300)
3.000
0.22%
9.642
0.000
9.642
5.79%
15.528
(0.281) 15.247

Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require the Councils to invest
their funds prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of their
investments before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield. The Councils
objectives when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between
risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk
of receiving unsuitably low investment income.

Page 22

Appendix C
1.4

Babergh and Mid Suffolk have both followed the approved treasury strategy and
maintained investment in long term pooled funds. These funds have generated
higher returns for the Councils in a period when interest rates are falling. The
remaining investments are short term and highly liquid to ensure both Councils
can meet their liabilities.

1.5

As a result, investment risk was diversified while the average rate of return has
increased from 3.69% to 4.69% for Babergh and from 3.50% to 4.93% for Mid
Suffolk over the 6-month period to 30th September 2017. The progression of risk
and return metrics are shown in the extracts from Arlingclose’s quarterly
investment benchmarking in Table 5 below.
Table 5: Investment Benchmarking

Babergh

31.03.2017
30.06.2017
30.09.2017
Similar LAs
All LAs

Mid Suffolk

31.03.2017
30.06.2017
30.09.2017
Similar LAs
All LAs

Credit
Score

Credit
Rating

Bail-in
Exposure

4.81
5.53
5.29
4.39
4.44

A+
A
A+
AAAA-

61%
88%
90%
65%
64%

Credit
Score

Credit
Rating

Bail-in
Exposure

4.63
5.29
5.25
4.39
4.44

A+
A+
A+
AAAA-

59%
88%
90%
65%
64%

Weighted
Average
Maturity
(days)
71
61
61
108
40
Weighted
Average
Maturity
(days)
66
63
62
108
40

Rate of
Return
3.69%
4.78%
4.69%
1.43%
1.12%
Rate of
Return
3.50%
4.87%
4.93%
1.43%
1.12%

1.6

Babergh has £9.638m of externally managed pooled equity, property and multi
asset funds which generated an average total income return of £722k (5.8%)
which is used to support service provision.

1.7

Mid Suffolk has £9.642m of externally managed pooled equity, property and
multi asset funds which generated an average total income return of £576k
(5.79%), which is used to support service provision.

1.8

These funds have no defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal
after a notice period, their performance and continued suitability in meeting the
Councils’ investment objectives are regularly reviewed.

Page 23

Appendix C
2. Long Term Investments - Pooled Fund Performance
2.1

Babergh and Mid Suffolk both have investments in pooled funds to generate an
income return. Table 6 below is a summary of performance by fund from initial
investment date until the most recent valuation available and details of interest
received.
Table 6: Pooled Funds
Fund
CCLA
Amount invested
Value at 30.6.2017
Movement
Interest earned to 30.6.2017
Average return
UBS
Amount invested
Value at 30.6.2017 BDC; 25.8.2017 MSDC
Movement
Interest earned to 30.6.2017
Average return
Schroders
Amount invested
Value at 5.4.2017
Movement
Interest earned to 30.5.2017
Average return
Funding Circle
Amount invested
Value at 4.10.2017
Movement
Interest earned to 30.6.2017
Average return
Total Pooled Funds
Amount invested
Values
Movement
Interest earned
Average return

Page 24

Babergh
£

Mid Suffolk
£

5,000,000
4,815,884
(184,116)

5,000,000
4,741,395
(258,605)

464,347
5.07%

411,187
4.93%

2,000,000
2,015,736
15,736

2,000,000
2,012,566
12,566

136,507
3.90%

40,448
4.04%

2,000,000
1,975,408
(24,592)

2,000,000
1,975,408
(24,592)

82,610
8.26%

82,610
8.26%

638,000
627,615
(10,385)

642,000
632,572
(9,428)

38,220
3.59%

41,807
3.90%

9,638,000
9,434,644
(203,357)

9,642,000
9,361,942
(280,058)

721,683
5.39%

576,051
5.37%

Appendix C
2.2

The two councils invested in CCLA on different dates (Babergh on 31 August
2015 and Mid Suffolk on 31 October 2015), so each purchased a different
number of units. This is reflected in the latest values of the investments.

2.3

Both councils invested in Schroders Income Maximiser Fund on 6 February
2017 and the first returns, in April 2017, included a valuation (equalisation)
adjustment.

2.4

The performance of the Funding Circle has not met initial expectations either
financially or in the support of local businesses.

2.5

Average returns have fallen from 8.92% to 3.59% for Babergh and from 8.86%
to 3.90% for Mid Suffolk since December 2015, mainly due to bad debts not
recovered.

2.6

The initial investment was intended to go to support local businesses, but take
up has been much lower than anticipated and most loans have been allocated
to the National, rather than the Local account.

2.7

Since the initial investment into Funding Circle, the system for bidding for
allocations has changed. The original method was a manual allocation of funds
based on areas of business and credit ratings of the Councils choosing.

2.8

Two new options for automatic bidding have been introduced. One retains the
same level of risk as present (A to A+) but with lower returns, expected to be in
the range of only 3-4%. The other is investing in potentially lower credit rated,
higher risk businesses (A to E) with higher returns (estimated at 7%). In both
options, the Councils would not be able to choose where funds are allocated.

2.9

Both options expose the Councils to loss of control, higher risk to retain the
same level of returns or the same risk level for reduced returns. None of these
fit the Councils’ investment strategy.

2.10 Continued membership of the Funding Circle is now under review. It is
anticipated that as the current outstanding loans are paid off there will be no
further reinvestment into the funds. Alternative solutions will be investigated.
3.

Other Investment Activity

3.1

On 5 August 2016 Babergh purchased Borehamgate Shopping centre in
Sudbury for £3.56million. This has been classified as an investment property
and on 31 March 2017, the District Valuer assessed its Fair Value at £4million.

3.2

Net Income, after deducting direct costs, was £143k in 2016/17 and for the first
half year of 2017/18 is £134k.

3.3

If CIPFA’s proposed amendments to the Treasury Management Code are
adopted in the revised Code from 2018/19, investment properties will
henceforth be included in the expanded definition of “investments”.

Page 25

Appendix D
1.

Treasury Management Indicators

1.1

The Section 151 Officer is pleased to report that, except for one occasion for
Babergh, all treasury management activities undertaken during the first half of
2017/18 complied fully with the CIPFA Code of Practice and the Councils
approved Treasury Management Strategy. Babergh exceeded their daily bank
account limit with Lloyds by £120k for one day. Compliance with specific
investment limits is demonstrated in Table 7 below.
Table 7: Investment Limits

Babergh
Lloyds Bank
Money market funds
DMADF
CCLA
UBS
Schroder
Funding Circle

Actual
Maximum
£2.12m
45%
£2m
£5m
£2m
£2m
£638k

30.9.17
Actual
£874k
31%
Nil
£5m
£2m
£2m
£638k

2017/18
Limit
£2m
50%
No limit
£5m
£5m
£5m
£1m

Complied
x







Mid Suffolk

1.2

Actual
30.9.17
2017/18
Complied
Maximum
Actual
Limit

Lloyds Bank
£899k
£855k
£1m

Barclays Bank
£1m
£1m
£1m

Svenska Handelsbanken
£750k
£750k
£1m

Money market funds
36%
19.68%
50%

DMADF
£6.5m
Nil
No limit

CCLA
£5m
£5m
£5m

UBS
£2m
£2m
£5m

Schroder
£2m
£2m
£5m

Funding Circle
£642k
£642k
£1m
Compliance with the authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt
is demonstrated in Table 8 below.
Table 8: Debt Limits

Borrowing

Actual
Maximum

30.9.17
Actual

Babergh
Mid Suffolk

£92.797m
£100.387m

£86.547m
£89.237m

Page 26

2017/18
2017/18
Operational Authorised Complied
Boundary
Limit

£123m
£126m

£127m
£130m

Appendix D
1.3

Since the operational boundary is a management tool for in-year monitoring it is
not significant if the operational boundary is breached on occasions due to
variations in cash flow, and this is not counted as a compliance failure.

2.

Exposure to Treasury Management Risk

2.1

The Councils measure and manage their exposure to treasury management
risks using the following indicators.

2.2

Security: The Councils have adopted a voluntary measure of their exposure to
credit risk by monitoring the value-weighted average credit score of their
investment portfolio. This is calculated by applying a score to each investment
(AAA=1, AA+=2, etc.) and taking the arithmetic average, weighted by the size of
each investment. Unrated investments are assigned a score based on their
perceived risk.

Portfolio Average Credit Score

30.9.17
Actual
5.29
5.25

Babergh
Mid Suffolk
2.3

Complied



Interest Rate Exposures: This indicator is set to control the Councils exposure
to interest rate risk. The upper limits on fixed and variable rate interest rate
exposures, expressed as the amount of net principal borrowed was:

Babergh
Upper limit on fixed interest rate exposure
Upper limit on Variable interest rate exposure
Mid Suffolk
Upper limit on fixed interest rate exposure
Upper limit on Variable interest rate exposure
2.4

2017/18
Target
7.0
7.0

30.9.17
Actual
£86.547m
(£15.312m)

2017/18
Target
£123m
£35m

30.9.17
Actual
£74.237m
(£247k)

2017/18
Target
£127m
£40m

Complied


Complied



Fixed rate investments and borrowings are those where the rate of interest is
fixed for at least 12 months, measured from the start of the financial year or the
transaction date if later. All other instruments are classed as variable rate.

Page 27

Appendix D
2.5

Maturity Structure of Borrowing: This indicator is set to control the Councils
exposure to refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits on the maturity
structure of fixed rate borrowing were:

Babergh
Under 12 months
12 months and within 24 months
24 months and within 5 years
5 years and within 10 years
10 years and within 20 years
20 years and within 30 years
30 years and above
Mid Suffolk
Under 12 months
12 months and within 24 months
24 months and within 5 years
5 years and within 10 years
10 years and within 20 years
20 years and within 30 years
30 years and above

30.9.17 Lower
Actual
Limit
0.00%
0
0.00%
0
2.08%
0
13.87%
0
82.78%
0
0.00%
0
1.27%
0

Upper
Limit
50%
50%
50%
100%
100%
100%
100%

30.9.17 Lower
Actual
Limit
0.00%
0
0.00%
0
1.62%
0
20.21%
0
40.41%
0
21.16%
0
16.61%
0

Upper
Limit
50%
50%
50%
100%
100%
100%
100%

Complied







Complied








2.6

Time periods start on the first day of each financial year. The maturity date of
borrowing is the earliest date on which the lender can demand repayment.

2.7

Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 364 days: The purpose of
this indicator is to control the Councils exposure to the risk of incurring losses
by seeking early repayment of their investments. The limits on the long-term
principal sum invested to final maturities beyond the period end were:
Actual Principal invested beyond year end
Babergh Actual
Mid Suffolk Actual
Limit on principal invested beyond year end
Babergh Complied
Mid Suffolk Complied

Page 28

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
£2m
£2m
£2m







Appendix E
Glossary of Terms
CFR

Capital Financing Requirement. The underlying need to borrow to finance
capital expenditure.

CIPFA

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. This is the
leading professional accountancy body for public services.

CLG

Department for Communities and Local Government. This is a ministerial
department.

CPI

Consumer Price Index. This measures changes in the price level of
consumer goods and services purchased by households.

CPIH

Consumer Price Index Housing. A measure of consumer price inflation
including a measure of owner occupiers’ housing costs (OOH).

CCLA
DMADF
GDP

Churches, Charities and Local Authority Property Fund
Debt Management Account Deposit Facility.
Gross Domestic Product. This is the market value of all officially
recognised goods and services produced within a country in a given
period of time.

HRA

Housing Revenue Account. The statutory account to which revenue
costs are charged for providing, maintaining and managing
Council dwellings. These costs are financed by tenants’ rents.

LIBID

London Interbank Bid Rate. The interest rate at which banks bid to take
short-term deposits from other banks in the London interbank market.

LOBO

Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option. This is a loan where the lender has
certain dates when they can increase the interest rate payable and, if
they do, the Council has the option of accepting the new rate or repaying
the loan.
Low Volatility Net Asset Value. A new type of Low Volatility Net Asset
Value Money Market Fund - a new fund category introduced as part of a
new regulatory reform of the sector in Europe.

LVNAV

MiFiD

MPC

The Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (2014/65/EU) (MiFID II).
The EU legislation that regulates firms who provide services to clients
linked to ‘financial instruments’ (shares, bonds, units in collective
investment schemes and derivatives), and the venues where those
instruments are traded.
Monetary Policy Committee. A committee of the Bank of England which
decides the Bank of England’s Base Rate and other aspects of the
Government’s Monetary Policy.

Page 29

Appendix E
MRP

Minimum Revenue Provision. Local authorities are required to make a
prudent provision for debt redemption on General Fund borrowing

NAV

Net Asset Value. The NAV is the value of a fund's assets less the value
of its liabilities on a per unit basis.

PWLB

Public Works Loan Board - offers loans to local authorities below market
rates.

QE

Quantitative Easing. The purchase of Government bonds by the Bank of
England to boost the money supply.

T Bills

Treasury Bill. A short-term Government Bond.

UBS

UBS Multi Asset Income Fund (UK) – a pooled fund.

Page 30

Agenda Item 9
BABERGH DISTRICT COUNCIL

BC/17/19

From: Leader of the Council

Report Number:

To:

Date of meeting: 21 November 2017

Babergh Council

BOUNDARY REVIEW – RESPONSE TO STAGE TWO CONSULTATION ON WARDING
PATTERNS
1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to agree the Council’s response to the stage two
consultation on warding patterns, which is part of the further electoral review of the
Babergh district being conducted by the Local Government Boundary Commission
for England (LGBCE).

2.

Recommendations

2.1

That the Chief Executive be authorised to submit the Council’s formal response to
the stage two consultation, including the comments appended to this report at
Appendix 1 and any further comments arising from the Council’s debate.

3.

Financial Implications

3.1

There are no direct financial implications associated with this report.

4.

Legal Implications

4.1

The LGBCE are responsible for conducting the review and for ensuring compliance
with all relevant legal provisions.

5.

Risk Management

5.1

This report is most closely linked with the Council’s Corporate / Significant Business
Risk No. 5c. Key risks are set out below:
Risk Description

Likelihood

That
the
LGBCE 2 - Unlikely
determine a warding
pattern for Babergh that
does not provide equal
democratic
representation and fails
to take into account
community identity.

Impact

Mitigation Measures

3 – Bad

The Council is responding
to the consultation and all
councillors have had the
opportunity to contribute to
the consultation response.

Page 31

6.

Consultations

6.1

For the purposes of this stage of the further electoral review the Council is a
consultee and is not responsible for conducting the consultation. The Council is
supporting the LGBCE with its consultation activities through our communications
channels and disseminating the information to Town and Parish Councils.

7.

Equality Analysis

7.1

There are no equality and diversity implications.

8.

Shared Service / Partnership Implications

8.1

This report supports the ongoing joint working arrangements of the two Councils.

9.

Links to Joint Strategic Plan

9.1

This report supports the Enabled and Efficient Organisation programme.

10.

Key Information

10.1

Following the stage one consultation process which concluded on 14 August 2017,
the LGBCE has published its first draft of the warding patterns for Babergh District
Council. These recommendations are included as appendix 1 to this report. The
LGBCE is currently consulting on these proposals until 11 December 2017.

10.2

The LGBCE’s draft recommendations propose a scheme of 32 councillors, 11 fewer
than there are now, in 22 wards, five fewer than currently. The proposals include two
three-member wards, six two-member wards and 14 single member wards. None of
the existing boundaries will remain.

10.3

The Council, and other consultees, are asked to comment in particular on the
following aspects:


Electoral equality;



Community identity; and



Effective local government.

Comments are also invited on the suitability of the proposed ward names.
10.4

All councillors were asked to submit comments to the Assistant Director – Law and
Governance by 20 October 2017. The responses have been included at appendix
two.

10.5

The LGBCE will publish its final recommendations on 6 February 2018 and the order
bringing these recommendations into force will be made in time for the new electoral
arrangements to be implemented at the scheduled District Council elections in 2019.

Page 32

11.

Appendices
Title

Location

1)

LGBCE Draft Recommendations

Attached

2)

Consultation response

Attached

Authorship:
Emily Yule
Assistant Director – Law & Governance

emily.yule@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk
01449 724694

Page 33

This page is intentionally left blank

Draft recommendations on the new
electoral arrangements for Babergh
District Council

Electoral review

October 2017

Page 35

Translations and other formats
To get this report in another language or in a large-print or
Braille version contact the Local Government Boundary
Commission for England:
Tel: 0330 500 1525
Email: reviews@lgbce.org.uk
The mapping in this report is reproduced from OS mapping by the Local Government
Boundary Commission for England with the permission of the Controller of Her
Majesty’s Stationery Office, © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes
Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Licence Number: GD 100049926 2017

Page 36

Table of Contents
Summary .................................................................................................................... 1
Who we are and what we do .................................................................................. 1
Electoral review ...................................................................................................... 1
Why Babergh? ........................................................................................................ 1
Our proposals for area ............................................................................................ 1
Have your say ......................................................................................................... 1
What is the Local Government Boundary Commission for England? ......................... 2
1 Introduction ......................................................................................................... 3
What is an electoral review? ................................................................................... 3
Consultation ............................................................................................................ 3
How will the recommendations affect you? ............................................................. 4
2

Analysis and draft recommendations .................................................................. 5
Submissions received ............................................................................................. 5
Electorate figures .................................................................................................... 5
Number of councillors ............................................................................................. 6
Ward boundaries consultation ................................................................................ 6

Draft recommendations .............................................................................................. 7
South-eastern parishes........................................................................................... 8
Central and south-western parishes ..................................................................... 10
North and north-western parishes......................................................................... 12
Sudbury and Great Cornard ................................................................................. 14
Conclusions.............................................................................................................. 16
Summary of electoral arrangements ..................................................................... 16
Parish electoral arrangements .............................................................................. 16
3 Have your say ................................................................................................... 19
Equalities.................................................................................................................. 20
Appendix A ............................................................................................................... 21
Draft recommendations for Babergh District Council ............................................ 21
Appendix B ............................................................................................................... 24
Outline map .......................................................................................................... 24
Appendix C ............................................................................................................... 25
Submissions received ........................................................................................... 25
Appendix D............................................................................................................... 27
Glossary and abbreviations .................................................................................. 27

Page 37

Page 38

Summary
Who we are and what we do
1
The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) is an
independent body set up by Parliament. We are not part of government or any
political party. We are accountable to Parliament through a committee of MPs
chaired by the Speaker of the House of Commons.
2
Our main role is to carry out electoral reviews of local authorities throughout
England.

Electoral review
3
An electoral review examines and proposes new electoral arrangements for a
local authority. A local authority’s electoral arrangements decide:
•
•
•

How many councillors are needed
How many wards or electoral divisions should there be, where are their
boundaries and what should they be called
How many councillors should represent each ward or division

Why Babergh?
4
We are conducting a review of Babergh at the request of the District Council.
Some councillors currently represent many more or fewer voters than others. This is
‘electoral inequality’. Our aim is to create ‘electoral equality’, where votes are as
equal as possible, ideally within 10% of being exactly equal.

Our proposals for Babergh
•
•
•

Babergh should be represented by 32 councillors, 11 fewer than there are
now.
Babergh should have 22 wards, five fewer than there are now.
The boundaries of all wards should change, none will stay the same.

Have your say
5
We are consulting on our draft recommendations for a 10-week period, from 3
October 2017 to 11 December 2017. We encourage everyone to use this opportunity
to contribute to the design of the new wards – the more public views we hear, the
more informed our decisions will be when analysing all the views we received.
6
We ask everyone wishing to contribute ideas for the new wards to first read this
report and look at the accompanying map before responding to us.

1

Page 39

You have until 11 December 2017 to have your say on the draft
recommendations. See page 19 for how to send us your response.

What is the Local Government Boundary Commission
for England?
7
The Local Government Boundary Commission for England is an independent
body set up by Parliament.1
8

1

The members of the Commission are:
•
•
•
•
•

Professor Colin Mellors OBE (Chair)
Dr Peter Knight CBE, DL
Alison Lowton
Peter Maddison QPM
Sir Tony Redmond

•

Chief Executive: Jolyon Jackson CBE

Under the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009.

2

Page 40

1
9

Introduction
This electoral review is being carried out to ensure that:
•
•

The wards in Babergh are in the best possible places to help the Council
carry out its responsibilities effectively.
The number of voters represented by each councillor is approximately the
same across the district.

What is an electoral review?
10

Our three main considerations are to:
•
•
•

Improve electoral equality by equalising the number of electors each
councillor represents
Reflect community identity
Provide for effective and convenient local government

11 Our task is to strike the best balance between them when making our
recommendations. Our powers, as well as the guidance we have provided for
electoral reviews and further information on the review process, can be found on our
website at www.lgbce.org.uk

Consultation
12 We wrote to the Council to ask its views on the appropriate number of
councillors for Babergh. We then held a period of consultation on warding patterns
for the district. The submissions received during consultation have informed our draft
recommendations.
13

This review is being conducted as follows:

Stage starts

Description

18 April 2017
13 June 2017

Number of councillors decided

14 August 2017

End of consultation; we begin analysing submissions and
forming draft recommendations

3 October 2017

Publication of draft recommendations, start of second
consultation
End of consultation; we begin analysing submissions and
forming final recommendations
Publication of final recommendations

11 December 2017
6 February 2018

Start of consultation seeking views on new wards

3

Page 41

How will the recommendations affect you?
14 The recommendations will determine how many councillors will serve on the
Council. They will also decide which ward you vote in, which other communities are
in that ward, and, in some cases, which parish council ward you vote in. Your ward
name may also change.

4

Page 42

2

Analysis and draft recommendations

15 Legislation2 states that our recommendations should not be based only on how
many electors3 there are now, but also on how many there are likely to be in the five
years after the publication of our final recommendations. We must also try to
recommend strong, clearly identifiable boundaries for our wards.
16 In reality, we are unlikely to be able to create wards with exactly the same
number of electors in each; we have to be flexible. However, we try to keep the
number of electors represented by each councillor as close to the average for the
council as possible.
17 We work out the average number of electors per councillor for each individual
local authority by dividing the electorate by the number of councillors, as shown on
the table below.

Electorate of Babergh
Number of councillors
Average number of
electors per councillor

2016
71,251
32

2023
74,029
32

2,227

2,313

18 When the number of electors per councillor in a ward is within 10% of the
average for the authority, we refer to the ward as having ‘good electoral equality’. All
but one of our proposed wards for Babergh will have electoral equality by 2023.
19 Our recommendations cannot affect the external boundaries of the district or
result in changes to postcodes. They do not take into account parliamentary
constituency boundaries. The recommendations will not have an effect on local
taxes, house prices, or car and house insurance premiums and we are not able to
take into account any representations which are based on these issues.

Submissions received
20 See Appendix C for details of the submissions received. All submissions may
be viewed at our offices by appointment, or on our website at www.lgbce.org.uk

Electorate figures
21 The Council submitted electorate forecasts for 2023, a period five years on
from the scheduled publication of our final recommendations in 2018. These
forecasts were broken down to polling district level and predicted an increase in the
electorate of around 4% by 2023.

2
3

Schedule 2 to the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009.
Electors refers to the number of people registered to vote, not the whole adult population.

5

Page 43

22 We considered the information provided by the Council and are satisfied that
the projected figures are the best available at the present time. We have used these
figures to produce our draft recommendations.

Number of councillors
23 Babergh Council currently has 43 councillors. We looked at evidence provided
by the Council and concluded that decreasing by 12 would make sure the Council
can carry out its roles and responsibilities effectively.
24 We therefore invited proposals for new patterns of wards that would be
represented by 31 councillors – for example, 31 one-councillor wards, or a mix of
one-, two- and three-councillor wards.
25 We received three submissions about the number of councillors in response to
our consultation on ward patterns. Two submissions stated that the reduction was
too large and one submission stated that the reduction was not enough.
26 During our formulation of draft recommendations, we found that a council size
of 32 allowed a better allocation of councillors across the district. As stated in our
Guidance, we are prepared to alter the number of councillors by a small amount if,
by doing so, it provides for a better pattern of wards. We have therefore based our
draft recommendations on 32 councillors.

Ward boundaries consultation
27 We received 48 submissions in response to our consultation on ward
boundaries. These included seven detailed borough-wide proposals including
proposals from the District Council and two councillors. The schemes were based on
a pattern of wards to be represented by between 30 and 34 elected members.
28 The borough-wide schemes each provided for a mix of one-, two- and threecouncillor wards for Babergh. All the schemes expressed the desire for singlemember wards, wherever possible. We carefully considered the proposals received
and concluded that the proposed ward boundaries would not have sufficient levels of
electoral equality, although they generally used clearly identifiable boundaries. The
evidence received for six of the schemes was rather limited. One of the schemes
from an independent councillor provided more substantial evidence, but did not
provide for good electoral equality across the district.
29 Our draft recommendations are based on Councillor McCraw’s proposals, as
well as a combination of the district-wide proposals that we received, particularly in
areas where there was consensus. We were not persuaded that the District
Council’s proposals provided sufficient evidence, particularly with regard to how its
proposals reflected community identities. Therefore, in some areas of the district we
have also taken into account more localised submissions, which provided evidence
6

Page 44

of community links and locally recognised boundaries. In some areas we considered
that the proposals did not provide for the best balance between our statutory criteria
and so we identified alternative boundaries. We also visited the area in order to look
at the various different proposals on the ground. This tour of the area helped us to
decide between the different boundaries proposed.
30 A summary of our proposed new wards is set out in the table on page 16 and
on the large map accompanying this report.
31 We welcome all comments on these draft recommendations, particularly on the
location of the ward boundaries, and the names of our proposed wards.

Draft recommendations
32 The tables and maps on pages 8–15 detail our draft recommendations for each
area of the Babergh. They detail how the proposed warding arrangements reflect the
three statutory4 criteria of:
•
•
•

4

Equality of representation
Reflecting community interests and identities
Providing for effective and convenient local government

Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009.

7

Page 45

South-eastern parishes

Ward name
Brantham & Holbrook
Capel St Mary
Chelmondistan
Copdock & Washbrook
East Bergholt
Sproughton & Pinewood
Shotley

Number of Cllrs
2
1
1
1
1
2
1

8

Page 46

Variance 2023
6%
5%
3%
0%
4%
-2%
7%

Brantham & Holbrook
33 We received a submission from Holbrook Parish Council which stated that
Holbrook should not be subsumed into another ward given that it is a lead settlement
on the peninsula. We are therefore proposing to join the Holbrook, Brantham, Stutton
and Tattingstone parishes to create a two-member Brantham & Holbrook ward,
which will achieve good electoral equality by 2023.
Capel St Mary and East Bergholt
34 Three of the borough-wide schemes we received proposed single-member
Capel St Mary and East Bergholt wards. We have therefore based our wards in
these areas on these proposals, which reflect the parish boundaries for both areas.
Both wards will achieve good electoral equality by 2023.
Chelmondistan
35 We received a submission from Bentley Parish Council, supporting its inclusion
in a larger ward. We received another submission from Freston Parish Council that
proposed its inclusion in a ward with Holbrook parish; however, they did not propose
an alternative ward boundary. A stand-alone ward of Freston and Holbrook would
have an electoral variance of -32% which, in our view, is an unacceptably high
variance. We have therefore based our proposed Chelmondistan ward on the
submission received from Councillor McCraw which groups a number of parishes in
the south-east of the district together.
Copdock & Washbrook
36 We did not receive any submissions relating to the parishes within our
proposed Copdock & Washbrook wards other than within the district-wide schemes.
One of the schemes submitted proposed that the parishes of Burstall, Hintlesham,
Chattisham and Copdock & Washbrook should be grouped together in one ward. We
have accepted this proposal, with the addition of the parishes of Wenham Magna
and Wenham Parva to improve electoral equality in the ward.
Sproughton & Pinewood and Shotley
37 We received a submission from Sproughton Parish Council suggesting that the
area should be combined with the parish of Pinewood to form a two-member ward.
This was also proposed by the Council and two councillors in some of the other
district-wide schemes we received.
38 We have based our Shotley ward on grouping the parishes of Shotley,
Harkstead and Arwarton into a single-member ward. This was proposed in three of
the schemes that we received.
39 Both Sproughton & Pinewood and Shotley will achieve good electoral equality
by 2023.

9

Page 47

Central and South-western parishes

Ward name
Assington
Boxford
Bures St Mary & Nayland
Hadleigh
Polstead

Number of Cllrs
1
1
1
3
1

10

Page 48

Variance 2023
-7%
-5%
1%
-2%
11%

Assington
40 We received one submission from Little Cornard Parish Council that suggested
the parishes of Little Cornard, Newton, Assington and Leavenheath should be
grouped together. This was also proposed in one of the schemes submitted by the
Council and a scheme submitted by a councillor. We have accepted this proposal
and are recommending a one-member Assington ward that will achieve good
electoral equality by 2023.
Boxford
41 We have based our draft Boxford ward on the proposal submitted by Councillor
McCraw, grouping together the parishes of Boxford, Groton, Edwardstone, Kersey,
Milden and Lindsey. This was supported by a submission from Groton Parish
Council, that stated the parishes of Groton, Edwardstone and Boxford have a shared
community identity and therefore should remain in the same ward. Our draft Boxford
ward will achieve good electoral equality by 2023.
Bures St Mary & Nayland
42 We received two submissions from Polstead Parish Council and Leavenheath
Parish Council stating that they have connections with Nayland. However, moving
either of these parishes would lead to poor electoral equality. Bures St Mary &
Nayland would have a 50% electoral variance with the inclusion of Polstead. The
alternative ward that would include Leavenheath would have a 31% variance. Two of
the schemes that we received, from the Council and a councillor, proposed grouping
the parishes of Stoke-by-Nayland, Nayland-with-Wissington and Bures St Mary to
form a single-member ward. We therefore propose to accept this scheme. Bures St
Mary & Nayland will achieve electoral equality by 2023.
Hadleigh
43 We received three submissions regarding Hadleigh from two local residents
and Hadleigh Town Council. Two of these submissions requested that the Hadleigh
area retain its current allocation of four councillors. Retaining four councillors in
Hadleigh would result in an electoral variance of -26% which we consider to be
unacceptably high. We are therefore recommending a draft three-member Hadleigh
ward based on the parish of Hadleigh. This was supported by all of the schemes that
we received during consultation. Hadleigh ward will have good electoral equality by
2023 while reflecting the community identity of the town.
Polstead
44 We received three submissions regarding Polstead ward from parish councils.
Polstead Parish Council stated that it wished to be placed in a ward with the parishes
to the south covering the Nayland area. To group these parishes within our proposed
Bures St Mary & Nayland ward would result in poor electoral equality for the area.
We received a submission from Stratford St Mary Parish Council and Raydon Parish
Council that underlined the close connection between the parishes of Raydon,
Holton St Mary, Stratford St Mary and Higham. Based on the evidence submitted, we
are recommending a single-member Polstead ward with a variance of 11%,
comprising these parishes, along with Shelley and Layham. While this variance is
relatively high, we consider our proposed ward will most accurately reflect
community identity in this area.
11

Page 49

North and north-western parishes

Ward name
Bildeston
Glemsford
Lavenham
Long Melford
Whatfield

Number of Cllrs
1
2
2
2
1

12

Page 50

Variance 2023
-4%
-2%
7%
-5%
-2%

Bildeston and Whatfield
45 The schemes that we received for Bildeston and Whatfield all proposed
significantly different boundaries with varying levels of electoral equality. We
received a submission from Thorpe Morieux Parish Council which supported
inclusion in a ward with the parish of Cockfield; however, this would lead to poor
electoral equality with Bildeston containing 28% more electors than the average by
2023. We also received one submission from a local resident that supported
grouping the parishes of Brent Eleigh and Preston St Mary in a ward on the basis
that they have shared community links. We have therefore based our draft Bildeston
ward on grouping the parishes of Bildeston, Hitcham, Brettenham, Thorpe Morieux,
Preston St Mary and Brent Eleigh.
46 We have based our draft Whatfield ward on grouping of the parishes of
Aldham, Elmsett, Semer, Nedging-with-Naughton, Wattisham, Chelsworth, Monks
Eleigh and Kettlebaston. Following our visit to the area, we feel that this offers a
better balance of our statutory criteria than the other schemes submitted. Bildeston
and Whatfield will have good electoral equality by 2023.
Glemsford
47 We have based our draft ward on the current ward in this area, with the addition
of the parishes of Glemsford and Stanstead. We received three submissions from
two parish councils and a village meeting in the area that supported the current
grouping of parishes. This was also proposed in the scheme submitted by Councillor
McCraw. Glemsford will have good electoral equality by 2023.
Lavenham
48 We received two submissions from Great Waldingfield Parish Council and
Acton Parish Council that argued in favour of the current grouping of parishes within
one ward. Additionally, we received a submission from Chilton Parish Council that
argued against its inclusion in a more urban ward, such as Sudbury or Great
Cornard, both of which were proposed under some of the warding schemes we
received. Our draft Lavenham ward is based on the existing Waldingfield ward, with
the addition of Chilton parish, and will have good electoral equality by 2023.
Long Melford
49 We received a submission regarding these wards from Cockfield Parish
Council. It argued that the current groupings of parishes should be retained for
district warding. This leads to poor electoral equality in Bildeston at 28%.
50 We also received a submission from Shimpling Parish Council that stated it did
not wish to be placed in the same ward as Glemsford. We therefore have grouped
the more rural parishes of Alpheton, Cockfield and Shimpling with the parish of Long
Melford into a two-member Long Melford ward. Long Melford will have good electoral
equality by 2023.

13

Page 51

Sudbury and Great Cornard

Ward name
Great Cornard
Sudbury East
Sudbury North
Sudbury South
Sudbury South West

Number of Cllrs
3
1
2
1
1

14

Page 52

Variance 2023
4%
-4%
-10%
-2%
-1%

Great Cornard
51 We received one submission from Great Cornard Parish Council arguing
against dividing the parish or placing it in a ward with the parish of Little Cornard,
arguing that there is no shared community identity and a very distinct urban/rural
divide. This was also supported by two of the schemes that we received.
52 Following our visit to the area, we are proposing to move electors in the Cat’s
Lane area of Great Cornard into our draft Sudbury South ward to reflect access
routes and ensure better electoral equality in Sudbury South and Great Cornard.
53 Overall, we are persuaded by the community evidence submitted and are
therefore recommending a draft three-member Great Cornard ward based on the
current parish, with the exclusion of electors around Cat’s Lane.
Sudbury
54 Four of the schemes that we received for Sudbury proposed a four-member
Sudbury ward retaining the current boundaries, with a variance of 11%. While the
legislation does not preclude a four-member ward, the Commission’s Guidance is
clear that wards of greater than three-members do not provide for effective and
convenient local government and potentially dilute accountability.
55 We received one submission from Sudbury Town Council that suggested that
the external boundary of the parish should be followed for ward boundaries, which
was supported by a submission from a local resident. The submission from the Town
Council also argued that Sudbury should be split into four single-member wards to
provide better accountability, but did not provide an alternative warding pattern or
evidence to help determine where the boundaries should be drawn. We therefore
looked at alternative boundaries on our visit to the area.
56 Our draft warding arrangements for Sudbury are for single-member Sudbury
South, Sudbury South West and Sudbury East wards and a two-member Sudbury
North ward, to allow for better electoral equality. Taking account of the spread of
residential areas in the town, we have sought to follow identifiable boundaries while
seeking to reflect local communities. All Sudbury wards will achieve good electoral
equality by 2023. We would particularly welcome comments on our draft
recommendations for Sudbury during this consultation.

15

Page 53

Conclusions
57 The table below shows the impact of our draft recommendations on electoral
equality, based on 2016 and 2023 electorate figures.

Summary of electoral arrangements
Draft recommendations
2016

2023

Number of councillors

32

32

Number of electoral wards

22

22

2,227

2,313

Number of wards with a variance more
than 10% from the average

1

1

Number of wards with a variance more
than 20% from the average

0

0

Average number of electors per councillor

Draft recommendation
Babergh District Council should be made up of 32 councillors serving 22 wards
representing 14 single-councillor wards, six two-councillor wards and two threecouncillor wards. The details and names are shown in Appendix A and illustrated on
the large maps accompanying this report.
Mapping
Sheet 1, Map 1 shows the proposed ward for Babergh District Council.
You can also view our draft recommendations for Babergh on our interactive
maps at http://consultation.lgbce.org.uk

Parish electoral arrangements
58 As part of an electoral review, we are required to have regard to the statutory
criteria set out in Schedule 2 to the Local Democracy, Economic Development and
Construction Act 2009 (the 2009 Act). The Schedule provides that if a parish is to be
divided between different ward it must also be divided into parish wards, so that each
16

Page 54

parish ward lies wholly within a single ward. We cannot recommend changes to the
external boundaries of parishes as part of an electoral review.
59 Under the 2009 Act we only have the power to make changes to parish
electoral arrangements where these are as a direct consequence of our
recommendations for principal authority warding arrangements. However, Babergh
District Council has powers under the Local Government and Public Involvement in
Health Act 2007 to conduct community governance reviews to effect changes to
parish electoral arrangements.
60 As a result of our proposed ward boundaries and having regard to the statutory
criteria set out in schedule 2 to the 2009 Act, we are providing revised parish
electoral arrangements for Sudbury Town Council and Great Cornard Parish
Council.
61 As result of our proposed ward boundaries and having regard to the statutory
criteria set out in schedule 2 to the 2009 Act, we are providing revised parish
electoral arrangements for Sudbury parish.
Draft recommendation
Sudbury Town Council should comprise 16 councillors, as at present, representing
7 wards:
Parish ward
Number of parish councillors
Elm & Hillside
1
Hawkins Road
1
St Leonards
1
Sudbury East
3
Sudbury North
6
Sudbury South
1
Sudbury South West
2
62 As result of our proposed ward boundaries and having regard to the statutory
criteria set out in schedule 2 to the 2009 Act, we are providing revised parish
electoral arrangements for Great Cornard parish.
Draft recommendation
Great Cornard Parish Council should comprise 14 councillors, as at present,
representing 3 wards:
Parish ward
Number of parish councillors
Cat’s Lane
1
Great Cornard North
6
Great Cornard South
7

17

Page 55

18

Page 56

3

Have your say

63 The Commission has an open mind about its draft recommendations. Every
representation we receive will be considered, regardless of who it is from or whether
it relates to the whole borough or just a part of it.
64 If you agree with our recommendations, please let us know. If you don’t think
our recommendations are right for Babergh, we want to hear alternative proposals
for a different pattern of wards.
65 Our website has a special consultation area where you can explore the maps
and draw your own proposed boundaries. You can find it at consultation.lgbce.org.uk
66
to:

Submissions can also be made by emailing reviews@lgbce.org.uk or by writing

Review Officer (Babergh)
The Local Government Boundary Commission for England
14th Floor, Millbank Tower
Millbank
London SW1P 4QP
67 The Commission aims to propose a pattern of wards for the Babergh which
delivers:
•
•
•

68

Electoral equality: each local councillor represents a similar number of voters
Community identity: reflects the identity and interests of local communities
Effective and convenient local government: helping your council discharge its
responsibilities effectively
A good pattern of ward should:

•
•
•
•
69

Provide good electoral equality, with each councillor representing, as closely
as possible, the same number of voters
Reflect community interests and identities and include evidence of community
links
Be based on strong, easily identifiable boundaries
Help the council deliver effective and convenient local government
Electoral equality:

•

70

Does your proposal mean that councillors would represent roughly the same
number of voters as elsewhere in the council area?
Community identity:

•

Community groups: is there a parish council, residents’ association or other
group that represents the area?
19

Page 57

•
•

71

Interests: what issues bind the community together or separate it from other
parts of your area?
Identifiable boundaries: are there natural or constructed features which make
strong boundaries for your proposals?
Effective local government:

•
•
•

Are any of the proposed wards too large or small to be represented
effectively?
Are the proposed names of the wards appropriate?
Are there good links across your proposed wards? Is there any form of public
transport?

72 Please note that the consultation stages of an electoral review are public
consultations. In the interests of openness and transparency, we make available for
public inspection full copies of all representations the Commission takes into account
as part of a review. Accordingly, copies of all representations will be placed on
deposit at our offices in Millbank (London) and on our website at www.lgbce.org.uk
A list of respondents will be available from us on request after the end of the
consultation period.
73 If you are a member of the public and not writing on behalf of a council or
organisation we will remove any personal identifiers, such as postal or email
addresses, signatures or phone numbers from your submission before it is made
public. We will remove signatures from all letters, no matter who they are from.
74 In the light of representations received, we will review our draft
recommendations and consider whether they should be altered. As indicated earlier,
it is therefore important that all interested parties let us have their views and
evidence, whether or not they agree with the draft recommendations. We will then
publish our final recommendations.
75 After the publication of our final recommendations, the changes we have
proposed must be approved by Parliament. An Order – the legal document which
brings into force our recommendations – will be laid in draft in Parliament. The draft
Order will provide for new electoral arrangements to be implemented at the all-out
elections for the Babergh in 2019.

Equalities
76 This report has been screened for impact on equalities, with due regard being
given to the general equalities duties as set out in section 149 of the Equality Act
2010. As no potential negative impacts were identified, a full equality impact analysis
is not required.

20

Page 58

Appendix A
Draft recommendations for Babergh District Council

Ward name

Number of
councillors

Electorate
(2016)

Number of
electors per
councillor

Variance
from average
%

Electorate
(2023)

Number of
electors per
councillor

Variance
from average
%

Page 59

1

Assington

1

2,157

2,157

-3%

2,157

2,157

-7%

2

Bildeston

1

2,147

2,147

-4%

2,223

2,223

-4%

3

Boxford

1

2,104

2,104

-6%

2,188

2,188

-5%

2

4,598

2,299

3%

4,887

2,444

6%

1

2,333

2,333

5%

2,333

2,333

1%

4
5

Brantham &
Holbrook
Bures St. Mary &
Nayland

6

Capel St. Mary

1

2,407

2,407

8%

2,439

2,439

5%

7

Chelmondistan

1

2,134

2,134

-4%

2,375

2,375

3%

8

Copdock &
Washbrook

1

2,100

2,100

-6%

2,324

2,324

0%

9

East Bergholt

1

2,283

2,283

3%

2,412

2,412

4%

10 Glemsford

2

4,479

2,240

1%

4,540

2,270

-2%

11 Great Cornard

3

6,737

2,246

1%

7,220

2,407

4%

21

Number of
councillors

Electorate
(2016)

Number of
electors per
councillor

Variance
from average
%

Electorate
(2023)

Number of
electors per
councillor

Variance
from average
%

12 Hadleigh

3

6,652

2,217

0%

6,804

2,268

-2%

13 Lavenham

2

4,917

2,459

10%

4,953

2,477

7%

14 Long Melford

2

4,219

2,110

-5%

4,412

2,206

-5%

15 Polstead

1

2,548

2,548

14%

2,558

2,558

11%

16 Shotley

1

2,169

2,169

-3%

2,466

2,466

7%

Sproughton &
Pinewood

2

4,428

2,214

-1%

4,554

2,277

-2%

18 Sudbury East

1

2,116

2,116

-5%

2,218

2,218

-4%

19 Sudbury North

2

4,099

2,050

-8%

4,147

2,074

-10%

20 Sudbury South

1

2,173

2,173

-2%

2,268

2,268

-2%

Sudbury South
West

1

2,211

2,211

-1%

2,285

2,285

-1%

1

2,240

2,240

1%

2,266

2,266

-2%

Totals

32

71,251

–

–

74,029

–

–

Averages

–

–

2,227

–

–

2,313

–

Ward name

17

Page 60

21

22 Whatfield

Source: Electorate figures are based on information provided by Babergh District Council.
Note: The ‘variance from average’ column shows by how far, in percentage terms, the number of electors per councillor in each electoral ward varies from the
average for the borough. The minus symbol (-) denotes a lower than average number of electors. Figures have been rounded to the nearest whole number.

22

Page 61

23

Appendix B
Outline map

A more detailed version of this map can be seen on the large map accompanying
this report, or on our website: https://www.lgbce.org.uk/currentreviews/eastern/suffolk/babergh
24

Page 62

Appendix C
Submissions received
All submissions received can also be viewed on our website at
https://www.lgbce.org.uk/current-reviews/eastern/suffolk/babergh
Local Authority
•

Babergh District Council

Political Group
•
•

Green Party Group Babergh District Council
South Suffolk Constituency Labour Party

Councillors
•
•
•
•
•

Councillor D. Busby
Councillor A. Ferguson
Councillor B. Hurren
Councillor A. McCraw
Councillor A. Osborne

Parish and Town Council
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Acton Parish Council
Assington Parish Council
Bentley Parish Council
Boxted Parish Meeting
Chilton Parish Council
Cockfield Parish Council
Freston Parish Council
Great Cornard Parish Council
Great Waldingfield Parish Council
Groton Parish Council
Hadleigh Town Council
Holbrook Parish Council
Lawshall Parish Council
Leavenheath Parish Council
Little Cornard Parish Council
Little Waldingfield Parish Council
Newton Parish Council
Pinewood Parish Council
Polstead Parish Council
Raydon Parish Council
Shimpling Parish Council
25

Page 63

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Somerton Village Meeting
Sproughton Parish Council
Stanstead Parish
Stratford St Mary Parish Council
Sudbury Town Council
Thorpe Morieux Parish Council
Woolverstone Parish Council

Local Residents
•

11 local residents

26

Page 64

Appendix D
Glossary and abbreviations
Council size

The number of councillors elected to
serve on a council

Electoral Change Order (or Order)

A legal document which implements
changes to the electoral
arrangements of a local authority

Division

A specific area of a county, defined
for electoral, administrative and
representational purposes. Eligible
electors can vote in whichever
division they are registered for the
candidate or candidates they wish to
represent them on the county council

Electoral fairness

When one elector’s vote is worth the
same as another’s

Electoral inequality

Where there is a difference between
the number of electors represented
by a councillor and the average for
the local authority

Electorate

People in the authority who are
registered to vote in elections. For the
purposes of this report, we refer
specifically to the electorate for local
government elections

Number of electors per councillor

The total number of electors in a local
authority divided by the number of
councillors

Over-represented

Where there are fewer electors per
councillor in a ward or division than
the average

27

Page 65

Parish

A specific and defined area of land
within a single local authority
enclosed within a parish boundary.
There are over 10,000 parishes in
England, which provide the first tier of
representation to their local residents

Parish council

A body elected by electors in the
parish which serves and represents
the area defined by the parish
boundaries. See also ‘Town council’

Parish (or Town) council electoral
arrangements

The total number of councillors on
any one parish or town council; the
number, names and boundaries of
parish wards; and the number of
councillors for each ward

Parish ward

A particular area of a parish, defined
for electoral, administrative and
representational purposes. Eligible
electors vote in whichever parish
ward they live for candidate or
candidates they wish to represent
them on the parish council

Town council

A parish council which has been
given ceremonial ‘town’ status. More
information on achieving such status
can be found at www.nalc.gov.uk

Under-represented

Where there are more electors per
councillor in a ward or division than
the average

Variance (or electoral variance)

How far the number of electors per
councillor in a ward or division varies
in percentage terms from the average

28

Page 66

Ward

A specific area of a district or
borough, defined for electoral,
administrative and representational
purposes. Eligible electors can vote in
whichever ward they are registered
for the candidate or candidates they
wish to represent them on the district
or borough council

29

Page 67

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2 – Consultation Response
Councillor comments:
1 – Copdock & Washbrook Ward
It would be more appropriate for Great and Little Wenham to either be in a ward with Capel St
Mary with which the villages share a vicar and the people go to for shops and doctors etc. Or
alternatively with Raydon, Holton St Mary and the other villages in that ward as they border
Raydon airfield and share issues concerning Notley Enterprise Park.

2 – Hadleigh and Great Cornard Wards
It would be preferable to see these areas represented by three single-member wards rather
than one three-member wards.

3 – Polstead Ward
Polstead really does not fit with the rest of this ward from either a community identity or
transport access perspective. It is much more aligned with Stoke-by-Nayland and Nayland,
and to a lesser extent Boxford. The rest of the ward does have a community identity, and the
Wenhams also identify with it. It does seem that the electoral equality criterion has taken
precedence over anything else. The following suggestions will cause some additional
inequality, but it wouldn’t be that great and the community benefits would negate this. The
following suggestions are therefore suggested:
1. A single member ward covering Raydon, Layham, Holton, Stratford, Higham, Shelley,
Great and Little Wenham (2023 electoral number: 2003, variance -13.4%). The 2023
number will be higher due to the new build that will be taking place in Raydon soon.
2. A two-member ward covering Polstead, Stoke, Nayland, Bures, Leavenheath,
Assington, Newton and Little Cornard (2023 electoral number 5198, variance +12.4%).
This is the biggest problem with the proposal it will work and would be better for the
parishes.
3. There will also be a knock-on impact on Copdock and Washbrook, reducing it (2023
electoral number 2171, variance –6.1%). However, the 2023 number is likely to be
boosted by new build.

4 – Hadleigh Ward
Three members working across the whole area would be confusing for the electorate. It would
be preferable to maintain the existing two-ward split and have two councillors in Hadleigh
North and one in Hadleigh South. Alternatively the boundary could be moved to reduce the
size of Hadleigh North and it becoming a single member ward with Hadleigh South then having
two councillors.

Page 69

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
BABERGH DISTRICT COUNCIL

From: Chief Executive

Report Number:

BC/17/20

To:

Date of Meeting:

21 November 2017

Babergh Council

FUTURE OPTIONS FOR ‘WORKING TOGETHER’ BETWEEN BABERGH AND MID
SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCILS
1.

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 Babergh District Council (‘BDC’) and Mid Suffolk District Council (‘MSDC’) have been
working increasingly closely together since first sharing a Chief Executive in 2011. This
strong and successful partnership culminated most recently in the adoption of the
refreshed Joint Strategic Plan (‘JSP’), designed to integrate the Councils’ outcome
based approach for both districts.
1.2 This was an unanimously supported, positive and progressive, step towards adopting a
more enabled and efficient approach to addressing the Councils’ shared vision and three
shared priorities around:


Economy & Environment



Housing



Strong & Healthy Communities

1.3 BDC and MSDC (‘BMSDCs’) are committed to building upon this successful shared
services partnership working to create the environment where, and ensure that,
individuals, families, communities, and businesses continue to thrive and flourish –
meeting their full potential. Creating the JSP was an important part of ensuring
continuous improvement, within this ground-breaking operational and strategic
partnership. The refreshed JSP contains the Councils’ long-term joint ambitions for both
districts, reflecting their determination to push the boundaries of what they can achieve
together.
1.4 The refreshed JSP also marked a fundamental shift for both Councils – moving from
‘Working Together’ as partners, to actually sharing a single vision and approach,
delivering the same high level improvements for the residents of both districts together.
This has been further reinforced by the adoption, and current roll out, of the joint Public
Access Strategy. Similarly, the agreement to both move from the ’committee system’ to
a Leader and Cabinet style of governance from May 2017, and to a single public sector
hub with Suffolk County Council in Endeavour House in Autumn 2017, will enable even
greater levels of integration, efficiency, and mirroring of governance.
1.5 The Local Government world however is continually changing and the Government is
committed to further public sector reform. Both Councils face a number of key local
challenges, including:






The need for investment in growth and infrastructure projects;
Addressing increasing housing demand and costs;
Growing employment opportunities and wages;
Significant reductions in both Revenue Support Grant and New Homes Bonus;
Devolution of greater powers from Central Government;
Page 71







Potential to transfer functions & responsibilities from Suffolk County Council;
Further alignment and integration across the public sector;
Improving education and skills;
Better use of technology;
Further welfare reform.

1.6 Both Councils are committed to ensuring that the two districts are in the best possible
position to respond to, and take advantage of, these emerging opportunities and
challenges. Both Council Leaders have therefore asked their new Chief Executive to
investigate the various options available to further evolve the Councils’ partnership
working.
1.7 Based upon this initial work the newly formed Cabinets were asked on 13 October 2013
whether they provisionally endorsed the recommended approach of formally dissolving
the two district councils; and creating of a new, larger, District Council; and whether to
proceed to public and staff engagement. The minutes from the discussion are included
at Appendix A.
1.8 Babergh’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered a call-in request of the Cabinet
decision on Tuesday 31 October and after considerable questioning and debate it
resolved:
(i) That the principles of decision making were breached and that the decision be
referred back to Cabinet for reconsideration with additional information. The following
additional information should be considered by the Cabinet:a)

The comments raised during the meeting of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee on 31 October 2017;

b)

A more detailed Financial Case;

c)

Further information about the consultation activities, particularly the
telephone poll.

(ii) That Cabinet be requested to refer these decisions to a meeting of the full Council
for debate, before Cabinet makes its final determination.
1.9 The minutes from the 31 October Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting are
included at Appendix B (note the minutes have not been formally agreed by the
Committee so are subject to change. A more detailed Financial Case is included at
Appendix C and the details of the engagement programme included at Appendix D.
2.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

2.1 At the request of the Leaders of BMSDCs, the Chief Executive has reviewed the various
options available to further evolve the Councils’ ‘Working Together’.
2.2 The Chief Executive has considered, with his Senior Leadership Team (‘SLT’), both
potential incremental and step-change; and done so in the context of the Councils’
current partnership working and the Government’s position. SLT have been particularly
mindful of the recent devolution agenda, the increasing financial challenges for district
councils and the need to be able to respond to the emerging position following the snap
General Election.

Page 72

2.3 SLT have also limited their considerations to strategic transformation rather than any
individual options for separate services. In broad terms any of the first four options
below will strengthen both councils’ negotiating positions and ability to deliver ‘double
devolution’ within Suffolk. The creation of a new single district to replace BMSDCs is
likely to be the strongest option in this regard.
2.4 Based upon SLT’s review there are 5 options available. They are not however mutually
exclusive and so it is possible to create combinations of the various options. SLT believe
that each option has some merit and have summarised the potential benefits and
disadvantages of each, but have not commented on each option’s relative chance of
success. In addition consideration has been given in this report to ‘doing nothing’ i.e.
simply continuing with the existing partnership arrangements between the two Councils.
2.5 The 5 options are:
2.5.1 Forming a wider partnership with 1 or more other district / borough councils;
2.5.2 Dissolving BMSDCs to form a new single district council for the area;
2.5.3 Forming a Unitary Council for the area (or some other larger area);
2.5.4 Creating a Combined Authority for BMSDCs (with or without other Councils);
2.5.5 Forming a stand alone ‘mutual style’ company (with or without other public and / or
private sector partners).
3.

CONTINUING THE EXISTING ‘WORKING TOGETHER’ PARTNERSHIP APPROACH

3.1 As highlighted above the existing partnership arrangements began in 2011 and have
been expanded since that time, such that now all of the Councils’ officers work on behalf
of both Councils in a single management structure. Part of the success of this
partnership has been the common basis that, for the majority of services, costs are split
on a 50 / 50 basis. This, together with the Councils’ shared vision, has ensured the
optimum efficiency in the delivery of these services.
3.2 The emerging and projected financial differences between each Council, as set out in
Appendix C, demonstrate however that it is becoming increasingly difficult to manage
and account for services in such a way. It is anticipated therefore that if none of the
options outlined in paragraph 3.5 are adopted then the existing partnership will need to
change to reflect the different service level priorities and financial capacity of the two
Councils. Whilst the joint high level Vision in the JSP is likely to remain the same, the
impact of these changes will inevitably reduce the current efficiencies of various services
and so increase costs to both Councils.
3.3 At a more political level there are concerns that having a shared workforce and JSP,
without any further evolution of the partnership, may not be sufficient to continue to bind
the working relationship between the sovereign Councils. Having now reached a ‘peak’
partnership position in terms of relationships and efficiency, the combination of the effect
described above, and in paragraph 4.2, may begin to pull the partnership apart. This
has been seen elsewhere in the country, most notably the tri-borough partnership in
London. This may not be an immediate risk and could gradually emerge. However, as
can be seen from the effect that this had to the North Norfolk District Council and Great
Yarmouth Borough Council’s partnership (which related to a much smaller number of
officers) the impact can also be sudden, dramatic and reputationally damaging.
Page 73

3.4 In this context it is perhaps important and beneficial to also consider whether, after 6
years of the current partnership, Babergh and / or Mid Suffolk would be able to survive
a ‘divorce’ (amicable or otherwise) and be able to go back to delivering their services
without each other.
3.5 Each Council remains a sovereign body and therefore would lawfully and democratically
be able to go back to operating on their own. A prudent assessment of any separation
by the Chief Finance Officer, however, estimates that such a separation (without taking
any mitigating action) would reintroduce management costs alone of between £0.53m
and £1.06m per Council. The actual separation itself would also be far more detrimental
to productivity as the various officers and structures are teased apart.
3.6 The Chief Finance Officer believes that whilst such an impact could potentially be
withstood financially within Mid Suffolk District Council, as they have established a large
Transformation Fund, it is clear from the current financial projections in Appendix C that
the impact upon Babergh District Council’s finances are likely to be catastrophic. Such
action may even require the Chief Finance Officer to implement a ‘section 114’ report to
the Council, which would put a freeze on all spending until a balanced in-year budget
position is achieved and a revised, robust Medium Term Financial Strategy adopted.
4.

OPTION A - BROADER PARTNERSHIP

4.1 The Chief Executive does not believe that there is any particular strategic benefit to
forming a wider partnership at the district level, either with our immediate neighbours or
further afield.
4.2 The Chief Executive is confident that it would be possible (subject to appropriate
organisational / structural change) to deliver a wider partnership. The only benefit or
reason to do so however would appear to be if this could deliver a financial saving. The
financial success of the current partnership has been based upon two councils sharing
half their costs. For each new partner that is added the proportional financial benefit to
the partners reduces and the overall cost and complexity of the management
arrangements, travel etc increases.
4.3 Again obviously, this option also relies upon there being a willing partner to join with.
BMSDCs’ experience of these discussions and negotiations appears to be the exception
to the rule, as many potential council partnerships nationally have never come to fruition.
Similarly BMSDCs’ immediate neighbouring districts to the east and west are currently
focussed upon their own further integration.
5.

OPTION B - DISSOLUTION TO FORM A NEW DISTRICT

5.1 This is the only option of the 5 outlined that is directly ‘within the gift’ of BMSDCs and is
perhaps the most natural extension of the current working together. It is also the option
that can most easily be combined with any of the other options.
5.2 The Council’s Chief Finance Officer has estimated that this approach should deliver a
minimum level of cashable and non-cashable savings of £1m per annum, without the
need for any major organisational change. It would also provide overall long term
financial stability as a result of combining the strengths of the respective General Funds,
Housing Revenue Accounts and Reserves (see Appendix C). It would involve some
political change to a single Leader and Cabinet. It should also be noted that electoral
equality across the two districts should already be achieved, in any event, through the
current Further Electoral Review of both districts.
Page 74

5.3 As a single district council for both areas it would become one of the largest district
councils by population in England and remain on a par with the other 4 Suffolk councils
going through this process. It would therefore ensure parity of influence for the area
within Suffolk and greater influence nationally and regionally.
5.4 The Department for Communities and Local Government (‘DCLG’) have been clear that
the decision whether to submit a proposal to dissolve and combine existing districts is,
and should be, one for the democratically elected Councillors to make, and it is for the
Councils to consider how best to engage with local people in this process. DCLG have
therefore recommended that any such proposal should be carried out under the powers
created by section 15 of the Cities and Local Government Devolution Act 2016
(CLGDA). This section provides the primary legislation by which the Secretary of State
may, by regulations, make provision about the governance arrangements of local
authorities, and their structural and boundary arrangements.
6.

OPTION C - A UNITARY COUNCIL

6.1 The potential benefits and pitfalls of unitary local government have been well rehearsed
previously through the Local Government Review (‘LGR’) of Norfolk and Suffolk, and so
have not been reproduced here. It is uncertain however whether the Secretary of State
would be open to such discussions without wider agreement within Suffolk. Similarly
this could not be done in any format without, at least, an impact upon Suffolk County
Council (‘SCC’). It is assumed at this stage (and without any discussion with the County
Council) that this would be strongly resisted by SCC; although it may, depending upon
the geography of any proposal, find favour with the other Suffolk authorities.
7.

OPTION D - COMBINED AUTHORITIES

7.1 The Combined Authority approach has emerged in recent years as a way of similar
councils with shared interests to come together to address larger issues. This has, to
date, tended to be in more metropolitan areas to focus, for example, on transport and
infrastructure.
7.2 The Combined Authority model (with a directly elected Mayor) was the approach that
was proposed through the Devolution negotiations in Norfolk and Suffolk; and which has
now been implemented in Cambridgeshire. There has also been some discussion in
the past, at the Suffolk level, of adopting this approach through a new ‘Super Cabinet’
of all the respective Leaders. The respective Council Leaders in Suffolk already have
similar informal arrangements in place.
7.3 In principle this approach could be adopted for BMSDCs. However this option is likely
to only deliver a small part, if any, of the benefits described from Option B. In addition
any benefits may even be offset and outweighed by the additional bureaucracy that this
approach would bring.
7.4 A Combined Authority approach either across Suffolk or wider Local Enterprise
Partnership areas may however have some advantages and enable greater change and
delivery for some specific services e.g. highways and infrastructure.

Page 75

8.

OPTION E – A MUTUAL COMPANY

8.1 A mutual company is a ‘wildcard’ that seeks to try to take most of the best parts of the
other options and combine them. This option is likely to only be worthwhile in cooperation and agreement with other partners. In effect it would be forming a new
company, partially owned by BDC and MSDC (and other partners) together with some
staff shareholding.
8.2 This option does not fit with the recent devolution agenda and may even run contrary to
some of the devolution principles. It would however enable local government (both
tiers), police and health to come together as a single organisation delivering solely for
an area.
8.3 In doing so there would be less, rather than more, direct democratic accountability as
the delivery of the services would be one step removed from all three councils (more
similar to the current Shared Revenues Partnership model). Local politicians would
retain significant strategic influence over the company but it would be protected from
radical changes arising from future local election results.
8.4 Each of the public sector partners would therefore take on more of a commissioning role
with the company. The numbers of staff directly employed by each of the statutory
organisations would be dramatically reduced but the organisations and their respective
overhead costs of running those organisations would remain.
8.5 This hybrid option would therefore be successful if it is able to bring about significant
integration between the public sector partners, drive out ‘waste’ and deliver far greater
change in quality of life.
8.6 The initial set up costs of this approach would be much higher than all the other options
and it would take longest to see a return on that investment. It would also require a
radical shift in the role of Councillors who would become far greater Community Leaders
and Enablers rather than decision makers. If successful however this option has the
greatest chance of the widest impact for the electorate and of reducing the cost to the
public purse.
9.

CONCLUSION

9.1 Based upon the preliminary option appraisal work the Chief Executive believes that
dissolution of the two district councils, to then form a new single district council for the
combined area (Option B), represents the best option for the further transformation of
the Councils’ partnership working. A wider summary of reasons for this view is set out
at Appendix E.
9.2 The process to deliver Option B is ‘within the gift’ of the councils. This can be delivered
either through a Principal Area Boundary Review (‘PABR’) conducted by the Local
Government Boundary Commission for England (‘LGBCE’) or directly with the Secretary
of State for Communities and Local Government under the CLGDA 2016. BMSDCs are
familiar with the former process as this was pursued by both Councils in 2011.
9.3 When dissolving the two district councils and forming a new single district council for the
combined area was considered in 2011 both Councils also conducted a local
referendum to gauge public opinion.
9.4 In Mid Suffolk 32,601 valid votes were cast from an electorate at that time of 75,586
(43.2% turnout). 59.9% voted ‘YES’ and 40.1% voted ‘NO’.
Page 76

9.5 In Babergh 31,468 valid votes were cast from an electorate at that time of 69,723 (45.2%
turnout). 39.1% voted ‘YES’ and 60.9% voted ‘NO’.
9.6 In effect therefore the Mid Suffolk electorate provided a mandate to proceed. The overall
result (when the referenda are considered together) was split virtually 50/50; but the
Babergh electorate did not support this approach. BMSDCs therefore pursued the
alternative option of sharing officers and services through ‘Working Together’, but
remaining as separate sovereign Councils.
9.7 BMSDCs originally considered dissolving their respective Councils to form a new single
district council in 2011. This was prior to the ‘Working Together’ partnership being
established by the Councils and not long after the Coalition Government was formed.
Since then there have been two further General Elections and changes of both
Government and policy. Demand for services, need, aspiration, funding, and wider
political and economic circumstances have therefore changed significantly. The
success of BMSDCs’ partnership working has enabled the Councils to withstand these
challenges over the last six years. However, as described in paragraph 4 above,
‘Working Together’ is at a peak in terms of efficiency and further development; and so
is unlikely to be able to provide additional resilience against future challenges. It is
therefore considered appropriate, notwithstanding the referenda results in 2011, to
revisit this issue now with the public, stakeholders and staff. The wider summary of
reasons why this is considered to be the preferred option for the future are set out in
Appendix E.
9.8 Similarly the Councils’ Chief Finance Officer has carried out a preliminary financial
assessment which is set out at Appendix C.
9.9 A summary of the comparative delivery implications of the five options is set out in the
table below:
OPTION

A - Broader
Partnership

BDissolution

Councils
involved

Governance

Delivery
timescales

Costs &
savings
potential

Not aware
of other
willing /
suitable
councils

Unknown – Limited as be
Shared with
depends upon proportioned
other
identification across more
council(s)
of a partner(s)
partners

BMSDCs
only

New district
council replacing
BDC &
MSDC

Relative ease
of delivery
Difficult – strong
political
relationships
would need to
be built and any
misperceptions
addressed. It
will also
inevitably
involve
disruption
through staff
restructuring

Estimated net
cashable &
Relatively easy
Potentially by
non-cashable
– CLGDA or
May 2019
savings of £1m PABR process
p.a.

Page 77

OPTION

Councils
involved

C - Unitary

BMSDCs &
SCC

DCombined
Authority

Not aware
of willing
councils

E - Mutual

SCC &
wider public
sector (e.g.
police &
health)

Costs &
savings
potential
New unitary Unknown –
Limited as
council Principle
would include
replacing
needs to be SCC budget
BMSDCs &
agreed by
gap & higher
SCC (in
Secretary of
transitional
part)
State
costs
None –
estimated to
Shared with
Potentially by add cost as a
councils
May 2019
result of
involved
additional
bureaucracy
Delivery
timescales

Governance

Jointly
owned
company
with other
partners

Unknown estimated at
Depends on
over £1m p.a.
partners, but
although
3 years
higher
minimum
transitional
costs

Relative ease
of delivery

Difficult – see
previous LGR

Unknown Subject to
CLGDA
Difficult –
radical change
that would
require
significant
negotiation and
further legal
advice

10. NEXT STEPS
10.1 If the Cabinets informally endorse the Chief Executive’s recommendation then it is
proposed that this be tested through comprehensive public engagement.
10.2 Subject to the outcome of that public engagement a draft (DCLG compliant) business
case for the dissolution of BMSDCs and creation of a new single district council for
the area could be considered by each Council.
11. APPENDICES
(a) Minutes from the 13 October Cabinet meeting
(b) Minutes from the 31 October Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting
(subject to change)
(c) Financial assessment by the Chief Finance Officer
(d) Programme of engagement
(e) Chief Executive’s summary of wider reasons for proposing Option B.
12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS - NONE
Authorship:
Arthur Charvonia
Chief Executive

Tel. 01449 724802
Email: arthur.charvonia@baberghmidsuffolk.gov.uk

Page 78

BABERGH DISTRICT COUNCIL

BABERGH CABINET

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE BABERGH CABINET HELD IN ON FRIDAY, 13
OCTOBER 2017
PRESENT:

Jennie Jenkins - Chairman
Tina Campbell
Jan Osborne
John Ward

Margaret Maybury
Lee Parker

The following Members were unable to be present: Peter Patrick
41

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Patrick.
The Chairman welcomed Jonathan Stephenson as the new Strategic Director.

42

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS BY COUNCILLORS
None declared.

43

BCA/17/19 - TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 7
SEPTEMBER 2017
The minutes of the meeting held on 7 September were confirmed as a correct record
subject to the following amendment:
Page 2 – the revised balance should read £870,000.

44

TO RECEIVE NOTIFICATION OF PETITIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
COUNCIL'S PETITION SCHEME
None received.

45

QUESTIONS BY COUNCILLORS
None received.

46

BCA/17/20 MATTERS REFERRED BY THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY OR
JOINT AUDIT AND STANDARDS COMMITTEES
Report BCa/17/20 was noted. Both an impact and a change in the targets for void
times were urgently required.
It was agreed performance would continue to be monitored and if not as expected
would be flagged up with Cabinet.

Page 79

Babergh Cabinet
47

Friday, 13 October 2017

BCA/17/21 FORTHCOMING DECISIONS LIST
The report was noted.

48

BCA/17/22 FUTURE OPTIONS FOR "WORKING TOGETHER" BETWEEN
BABERGH AND MID SUFFOLK DISTRICT COUNCILS
The Chief Executive gave an introduction to report BCa/17/22 which gave a balance
of positive and negative reasons for merging into one Council. In order to ensure
that the two districts were in the best possible position to respond to, and take
advantage of, the emerging opportunities and challenges within Local Government
and Suffolk both Council Leaders had requested the Chief Executive to investigate
the various options available to further evolve the Councils partnership working.
It was stressed no formal decision would be made at this point in time but it was
simply to endorse the approach of creating one new, larger District Council and to
conduct stakeholder, public and staff engagement.
Councillor Jenkins moved the recommendations which were seconded by Councillor
Osbourne.
The Chairman pointed out Cabinet were in listening mode. The next steps, if
approved, would be to move the process forward. There would be no change to
services but they were committed to working with other partners. The budget had
been scrutinised and cut as much as possible but there was a compelling case for
delivering savings and service by merging into one Council.
The Chairman then invited questions from Councillors Ridley, Carpendale,
Cresswell, McCraw and Arthey to which Cabinet members responded in relation to
the timing of the decision, the high level financial aspect of the proposal and the cost
of public consultation and the lack of business case. The first step would be to wait
and see the public consultation response, that there was no control over the
Boundary Committee timing and that the Business Case would be developed at the
same time as the consultation. A formal decision would then be made from the
Business Case which would go before Overview and Scrutiny Committee as well as
Full Council. The Chief Executive also explained a comparison had been completed
with Suffolk Coastal in respect of a similar exercise and their telephone poll cost had
come to around £20,000.
Concern expressed at the amount of public consultations already taking place. In
response Councillor Jenkins explained the Chief Executive had outlined reasons but
was happy to amend the recommendation so it included as 2.1b:
“Subject to the outcome of public engagement a draft (DCLG compliant) business
case for the dissolution of BMSDC’s and creation of a new single district council for
the area could be considered by each Council.”
This amendment was moved by Councillor Jenkins and seconded by Councillor
Osborne.

Page 80

Babergh Cabinet

Friday, 13 October 2017

Cabinet members recognised doing nothing was not an option, the overriding factor
would be the savings made and the delivery of a service.
By a unanimous vote:
RESOLUTION 1
That the approach of formally dissolving the two district councils; and creating a new
larger District Council be provisionally endorsed.
RESOLUTION 2
That the council’s utilise the Transformation Funding to jointly conduct stakeholder,
public and staff engagement during Autumn 2017.
RESOLUTION 3
That subject to the outcome of the public engagement a draft (DCLG compliant)
business case for the dissolution of BMSDC’s and creation of a new single district
council for the area could be considered by each Council.
49

BCA/17/23 NEW ANGLIA ECONOMIC STRATEGY (2017 TO 2036)
Councillor Ward, the Cabinet Member for Economy, introduced report BCa/17/23
and moved the recommendation which was seconded by Councillor Osborne.
Cabinet Members although felt it was an excellent and detailed plan were
disappointed over the lack of aspiration in the Executive Summary and hoped the
housing target would meet need in a realistic and sensible way. In this regard it was
also hoped transport links and demand would be sustainable.
By a unanimous vote
RESOLUTION 1
That the New Anglia Economic Strategy, attached as Appendix A, be endorsed by
Mid Suffolk District Council.
RESOLUTION 2
That the information within this report regarding the forthcoming strategies for
Economy, Housing and Infrastructure, in support of the Suffolk Framework for
Growth, be noted.

50

EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC (WHICH TERM INCLUDES THE PRESS)
By a unanimous vote
RESOLUTION

Page 81

Babergh Cabinet

Friday, 13 October 2017

That under section 100(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the public be excluded
from the meeting for the following items on the grounds that they involve the likely
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act in
the paragraphs registered against the item.
Item
BCa/17/24
BCa/17/25
51

Schedule 12A Reason
3
3

BCA/17/24 INVESTMENT AND COMMERCIAL DELIVERY - A NEW DELIVERY
MODEL (EXEMPT INFORMATION BY VIRTUE OF PARAGRAPH 3 OF PART 1)
The minute relating to the above mentioned item was excluded from the public
record. A summary of the Minute made by the Proper Officer in accordance with
sub-section 2 of Section 100(c) of the Local Government Act 1972 was set out
below:
The Chairman, Councillor Jenkins, introduced report BCa/17/24 and moved the
recommendation, seconded by Councillor Osborne.
Cabinet accepted the recommendations contained in the report together with a
minor amendment proposed by the Chairman and seconded by Councillor Osborne.

52

BCA/17/25 REGENERATION PROPOSAL BUSINESS
INFORMATION BY VIRTUE OF PARAGRAPH 3 OF PART 1)

CASE

(EXEMPT

The minute relating to the above mentioned item was excluded from the public
record. A summary of the Minute made by the Proper Officer in accordance with
sub-section 2 of Section 100(c) of the Local Government Act 1972 was set out
below:
Councillor Jenkins, the Cabinet Member for Assets and Investments, introduced
report BCa/17/25 and moved the recommendations which were seconded by
Councillor Osborne.
Cabinet accepted the recommendations contained in the report.

The business of the meeting was concluded at Time Not Specified.
……………………………………..
Chairman

Page 82

BABERGH DISTRICT COUNCIL

BABERGH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE BABERGH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE HELD IN KING EDMUND CHAMBER, ENDEAVOUR HOUSE, 8 RUSSELL
ROAD, IPSWICH ON TUESDAY, 31 OCTOBER 2017
PRESENT:

Barry Gasper - Chairman
Clive Arthey
Bryn Hurren
Alan Ferguson

Peter Burgoyne
Alastair McCraw
Simon Barrett

The following Members were unable to be present: Fenella Swan, Melanie Barrett
45

APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTES
Councillor Alan Ferguson (Substituting for Councillor Melanie Barrett)
Councillor Simon Barrett (Substituting for Councillor Fenella Swan)

46

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
None declared.

47

CALL IN OF THE DECISION FROM THE MEETING OF THE BABERGH CABINET
HELD ON 13 OCTOBER 2017. REPORT BCA/17/22.
47.1 The Chairman read out the Decision notice of Report BCA/17/22 from the
meeting held on 13 October 2017 and the valid point from the Call In notice as
follows:1. The decision notice states that no alternative options have been considered
and rejected.
2. The decision does not appear to be listed as a key decision.
3. There appears to be a decision to consult on merging with inadequate
preparation and information release.
6. The financial appendix to the report is far from a full and unbiased picture of
the current and projected situation.
47.2 On the PROPOSAL of Councillor Simon Barrett and SECONDED by Councillor
Alan Ferguson the scope of the Call-In was AGREED as the four points above.
47.3 When PUT to the meeting the Motion was CARRIED unanimously.
It was RESOLVED
(i)

That the Scope of the Call – in be based on the following points:1. The decision notice states that no alternative options have
been considered and rejected.

Page 83

Babergh Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday, 31 October 2017

2. The decision does not appear to be listed as a key decision.
3. There appears to be a decision to consult on merging with
inadequate preparation and information release.
4. The financial appendix to the report is far from a full and
unbiased picture of the current and projected situation.
47.4 Councillor Tony Bavington, the lead signatory of the Call In, read out the
following statement:
47.5 In your report to Council on 24th October, Mr Chairman, you said that you aim
to undertake pre-scrutiny in order to improve the quality of the scrutiny process
and to provide the opportunity to introduce a topic where there is a concern, in a
timely fashion. I have attended three of five cabinet meetings so far and looked
up the forthcoming decisions list for all of them, including the one online last
Wednesday – that is a period from July 2017- February 2018 – and not one of
them list formally dissolving the two District Council’s and creating a new larger
District Council as a decision, let alone a Key Decision. Several of them do,
however, list the future use of the public toilets in Cordell Road, Long Melford, as
a Key Decision. As you know, Scrutiny Committee agendas now routinely
feature the Cabinet’s Forthcoming Decisions list followed by a Scrutiny
Committee Forward Plan. How can you formulate your forward plan or
undertake pre-scrutiny of a decision which not only is not flagged as to its
existential significance but not even listed as going to be taken?
Yet no one could credibly argue that the dissolution of Babergh itself is not a Key
Decision in the meaning of its new Constitution. This is a decision that, under the
Constitution, Part 1, para 12.7.1b, would have a significant effect on the
communities living or working in an area made up of two or more wards. If this
decision were pushed through to the merger of the two districts, then almost
certainly Babergh District Council Tax would rise substantially, car parking
charges would be imposed in our market towns, causing them to lose a major
competitive advantage relative to the larger towns around them – like the one we
now find ourselves in – and Babergh representatives would lose control over the
Babergh Housing Revenue Account. These are significant effects on all of the
communities in all the wards of the Babergh District.
I used the term merger but the Cabinet decision talks of provisionally endorsing
the approach of formally dissolving the two district Council’s and creating a new
larger District Council. In his email dated 25th October, the Chief Executive said,
“As you know, the Babergh and Mid Suffolk Cabinets took the decision to
explore the option of formally dissolving the two district councils and creating a
new, larger, district council for the area.” This sounds terribly reasonable. Yet the
question put in 2011 was At the moment, Babergh and Mid Suffolk are separate
District Councils. Should these Councils be replaced by one District Council?
The same question. No promise of a fresh referendum was given to the Babergh
electorate in the 2015 local elections and consequently this instruction is still in
full force. The Cabinet Decision is in direct defiance of this instruction. The
summary and explanation of the Constitution says that Citizens have the right to
have access to certain documents relating to matters on the Forthcoming
Decisions plan, Para 6, page 8 of 208.

Page 84

Babergh Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday, 31 October 2017

Based on the 2011 referendum result, we can assume that 61% of the Babergh
Electorate may be interested in exercising this right. The Cabinet has denied our
citizens this right by not publishing their plan as a Key Decision.
Where does the Cabinet derive the power to commence a process to dissolve
the Council, the body that gives it authority? Part 1 of the Constitution, the
articles of the Constitution, para 6.5.1 (Page 19) does not mention this power
under functions of the Cabinet, though it does list first and foremost , the function
to make Key Decisions as defined in Article 12.7 and published in the
forthcoming decisions plan. Indeed, the whole Constitution is based on the idea
that Babergh District Council continues to exist. Existence precedes essence. As
J. P Satre might have put it, without existence, nothing follows.
Provisionally endorsing the approach of formally dissolving the two District
Councils and creating a new larger District Council seems to suggest that size is
everything. This is hardly an imaginative approach to envisioning a future for our
local government in post austerity, post Brexit Britain, which is vibrant,
innovative, agile and yet grounded, stable and able to stay in touch with the
people we both serve and represent. The decision notice says that no alternative
options have been considered and rejected and damningly this seems to be
correct. For, although paper BCa/17/22 lists five options dismissing the status
quo as not an option, in fact, these options are put up as straw men only to be
knocked down in favour of the approach favoured all along. How do we know
this? Well, if these other options really had been considered there would by now
have been a paper trail. They would have got on to the Cabinet’s Forthcoming
Decisions list. They would have got into Scrutiny Committee’s Forward Plan and
they would have undergone pre-scrutiny.
47.6 Councillor Dave Busby added the following statement:
47.7 The key reason for doing this merger should be primarily financial, coming
down to the money. We can see problems in our accounts in the years ahead
therefore we are looking for a solution to them. In that case you should have
confidence in the figures. How confident would you be in any case to be
prepared. It says in here that the main savings are from efficiencies in staff and
management, how have they been evaluated, as they could be seriously flawed.
Supposedly 10% of savings in direct staff, in many of the larger functions they
are going to be unaffected, planning, housing, waste and communities. I
imagine it won’t affect those as they will have to do the same amount of work. Its
only in certain small departments such as finance where a merger could
eliminate duplication. That will not generate 10% savings, and then you have an
indication of the costs and savings, estimate of the cost of management, where
is that, it is absent, it has been conveniently absent and has been absent in
various projects that we have been doing such as constitutional reviews,
committee changes, leader and cabinet, boundary reviews, devolution, office
moves and now this. We never get told the cost of management in these
projects despite asking. There will be a significant cost involved in creating a
new Council and I don’t believe that has been provided either.

Page 85

Babergh Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday, 31 October 2017

The key point and the reasoning I think that there needs to be more time in
evaluating and scrutinising the financial figures is that this is going to be
presented to the public. It is going to be them, that can make the decision, but
we are going to consult with them and we need to consult with them with
accurate financial figures. Do you have the confidence that the questions can be
answered to the public with accurate financial figures. At the moment I don’t
think that is the case. Just a thought that I had before I came in, we are creating
a new council. What about all the contracts and agreements that are tied to both
councils such as new homes bonus, will those run forward to a new council or
will they stop, will we lose New Homes Bonus (NHB). Will the Government stop
the funding and would lose NHB, have we checked this? There is a minefield on
the finance side.
47.8 Councillor Tony Bavington concluded with the following statement:
47.9 In just 5 months we have had a rapid growth and a culture of secrecy, so far
from being transparent and accountable to local people as the first sentence of
the Constitution states. Decisions are being made behind closed doors and
being handed down. This growth needs to be nipped up in the bud before it
grows rampant and we need to make sure that the cabinet are acting within their
powers. In 2010/2011 lead up to the referendum Babergh and mid Suffolk
published 3 substantial papers, that was the high level business case, detailed
case and updated business case from 29th July – 10 February. We should
accept no lowering of standards this time, there should be a business case
before there is a consultation.
47.10 The Lead Signatory and Councillor Busby responded to Members’ questions
on the Housing Revenue Account, Council Tax changes and Car Parking fees
within Babergh and added that the first listed function of the Cabinet was to
address the Key Decisions list and that there was no evidence that emergency
provisions had been invoked.
47.11 Members of the Committee also raised questions regarding the Council acting
outside of its own powers and how the decision was only to engage in the
consultation process and not to decide on a merger unilaterally and the
wording of the decision being for a provisional endorsement of Option B.
47.12 Councillor Jennie Jenkins, Leader of Babergh District Council, read out the
following statement:
47.13 There is a strong history of working together over the last few years and since
2011 we have shared the same Chief Executive. In 2013, the Joint Strategic
plan which was refreshed in 2015 because we had so many new members.
The shared outcome based approach, the shared vision and the priorities.
2016 Joint Public Access Strategy. 2017, the Leader Cabinet Model, we have
the shared future challenges and Suffolk Context. 2017, Joint HQ here at
Endeavour House. 2018/19 which is moving forward is the Joint Local Plan.
2019 Electoral Equality and Council reduction to 66. Approximately saving £2
million per annum. If I could just remind you that over these past years Mid
Suffolk and Babergh initially had £9 million coming in on the revenue support

Page 86

Babergh Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday, 31 October 2017

grant which has dwindled, in a few years time it will be almost nothing.
Actually over the years with the money disappearing we have done well on
what we have done so far. But we cannot afford to be complacent. Both
Councils face a number of key local challenges and opportunities. The need
for investment in growth, in infrastructure projects, addressing increasing
housing demand and cost, growing employment opportunities and wages,
significant reductions in both the revenue support grant as mentioned and
new homes bonus. The New Homes Bonus has gone from 6 to 4 years, next
year it will be £1.2 million and the year after £600,000. Basically Babergh are
not building enough houses. Devolution of greater powers from Central
Government, potential to transfer functions and responsibilities from Suffolk
County Council, further alignment and integration across the public sector
improving education and skills, better use of technology and further welfare
reform.
Both Councils are committed to ensuring that both districts are in the best
possible position to respond to and take advantage of these emerging
opportunities and challenges. Both I and Nick Gowrley asked the Chief
Executive to investigate the various options available to further evolve the
Councils partnership working and he will be presenting on how we decided.
The Cabinet decision was only to provisionally endorse the option to dissolve
the two District Councils and create a new Council, it has NOT made that
decision. We need to enable stakeholder, public and staff engagements to
begin and then subject to the outcome of those public engagements draft a
DCLG compliant business case for the dissolution of both Babergh and Mid
Suffolk and creation of a new single District Council for the area will be
considered by each Council. We have to listen to what the people are saying
and what the telephone poll says and what residents want in respect of
services because don’t doubt if we don’t move forward in one way or another
we will have to cut services. The money is not there.
The reason for the call in, the report carefully summarises 6 strategic options,
each of which were considered by the Cabinet; continue the existing
partnership, broader partnerships, form a new Council, unitary, combined
authority and mutual company. Each option has benefits and disadvantages
and deliverability had to be taken into account with each consideration. The
option for a new Council is within our gift and would impact on any other
Council. The partnership case, natural extension of the next last steps of
working together. It is the easiest option to combine with any other option in
future e.g devolution or unitary. It would provide a louder voice and parity of
influence in Suffolk. Do we really want to be the meat in the sandwich? East
and West are doing this, why can’t we work together and do the same?
The financial case, greater resilience by combining the HRA and the general
fund as already said there are plusses and minuses in both and we have
been working with CIFCO – the investment and proved to work very well with
the £50 million jointly between the two councils. There will be £1 million per
annum in cashable and non-cashable savings. Control our own destiny, it is in
our own gift. The different mandates from 2011, the local polls, in reaching
this decision, we also continued the reasons not to do or to do including the

Page 87

Babergh Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday, 31 October 2017

difference, sense of takeover with less BDC Councillors. I would suggest that
it would be 32 and 34 if you went to a combined authority, it would not be
Babergh or Mid Suffolk making a decision, you would all be in there equally
with your own democratic rights to be listened to and discussed. Who would
become leader and the makeup of cabinet and would be in the Memorandum
of Understanding and in our first Conservative meeting that this came up and
was discussed with Arthur and there was nothing in there that was a deal
breaker.
Policy differences e.g. car parking charges in Mid Suffolk and Councillor
locality grants, style differences – opposition members on MSDC Cabinet.
BDC HRA headroom stretched wider, MSDC Transformation fund stretched
wider. Impact of Council Tax equalisation, I take the point but the differential
between the 2 is £8.11. We have yet to set our budget, we could easily be
going to £5 again this year. The differential is not that huge, better to generate
more income instead of parking, more homes could all feel a bit rushed.
Further information if needed. We have been advised by the Secretary of
State that in law the dissolving of 2 Councils and the creation of a single
district Council could be completed without a referendum, however we are not
at stage, this the first stage of going out and listening to the public. That’s all
the Cabinet have put forward at this time. the need for a second poll will be
considered at a later date once we have completed the public engagement
and have assessed the weight of the business case. We are at the stage of
engaging with residents, businesses and other stakeholders to develop the
detailed business case and until we have had the telephone poll and listen to
what people expect and what services people expect we won’t know.
Members will have the opportunity to debate the full business case with all the
feedback from the public engagement. It cannot be correct that the council
can only ever conduct public engagement when a detailed business case has
already been drafted especially in the context here of the 2011 local poll
result. We are starting conversations in parish liaison meetings next week
developing the factual information to be part of the business case. As above
all Members will have the opportunity to debate the full business case
following the public engagement. All Members will have the opportunity to
scrutinise the engagement process as part of the debate of the business
case. Any decisions about Council Tax equalisations would be for all
Members to consider at a later date, it is part of the budget setting process
that will come to full Council.
It is out of respect for the 2011 local poll result that such wide reaching public
engagement has been proposed and is intended to form the production of any
detailed business case. What is most important is that we cannot take the
right decision for the future without going to the public first in our district and
as part of the decision we must consider the views of our residents. They are
why we have been elected to serve the public and give them the best possible
services we can. This is only the first step, this is about public engagement, I
cannot stress enough that we need to take the public with us and supply
members with the right information. The Memorandum of Understanding will
allay all your fears going forward as to how the new Councils will work.

Page 88

Babergh Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday, 31 October 2017

47.14 The Leader responded to Members’ questions regarding the savings from
Option B on staffing costs and the sample size of the poll being 2000 people.
Members also raised questions regarding whether the Cabinet Decision was
a key Decision and that no plans had been put forward in any manifesto and
that there were concerns that the decision being taken by the Cabinet was not
proper procedure Members’ also raised the question of a possible referendum
in the same way that East Suffolk and West Suffolk had undertaken a
merger. Councillor Jenkins also clarified that the final decision would be on
the agenda for the Scrutiny Committee.
47.15 Arthur Charvonia, Chief Executive, presented on the options from the Cabinet
meeting noting that the option chosen was option B.
47.16 The Chief Executive and Section 151 Officer, Katherine Steel, responded to
Members’ questions that there would be ample time for pre-scrutiny, that any
type of merger could not be completed before 2019 and that the decision
needed the Cabinet’s support on any option. He said that the option for
dissolution was the most viable of the 5 and that this was the preferred option
but not the final choice. The Chief Executive clarified that only the Secretary
of State had the power to dissolve Councils and instigate the forming of any
new authority.
47.17 The Section 151 Officer responded to further questions that the financial
section of the report was based on objectively looking at duplications but that
the figures had not yet been scrutinised by any Committee and that the
technical consultation for the 2018/2019 budget had already begun but could
be subject to change.
47.18 Members’ enquired into the financial business case and it was commented
that £400,000 of the £1 million savings was hypothetical.
47.19 Councillor Tony Bavington gave the following closing statement:
47.20 The first thing I would say is that the Leader of Babergh District Council made
no real effort to rebut the idea that this is a Key Decision. The Chief Executive
did make an attempt to do that and under questioning by the Committee, one
member said that this was a decision to endorse a future decision. I would like
to say that it is a very poor idea of what a decision is to think that it does not
have ramifications and consequences. And it is quite clear that the
ramifications and consequences of this decision, and it is a decision because
it is on the decision list, are that this has consequences and ramifications for
the communities in the Babergh district even If it is a provisional
endorsement. The Committee rightly dwelt upon the word provisionally
because if you take provisionally out of the first decision then it is a decision
to merge or to dissolve one and form another. So his defence of it not being a
key decision rests on the word provisionally. What I would say is that even
that provisional decision will require a considerable amount of work and will
cause a lot of disturbance to members of the public in our district and will
actually cost a lot of money which is what decision 1.2 says to use the
transformation funding to do this.

Page 89

Babergh Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday, 31 October 2017

As I said in my answer to questions and will say again I don’t think anyone in
this room who was born yesterday, and I think we know that once this train is
set in motion then it will lead to the heavy promotion of the dissolution of
Babergh and the creation of a new council. Anyone who thinks this is not the
case perhaps is younger than I am.
So in my view this is a key decision because it has key ramifications and
consequences that flow from it, even from provisionally endorsing, that makes
it a key decision. Nobody has argued that that this decision was trailed in
advance, it clearly wasn’t. Nobody has tried to invoke the parts of the
Constitution which says that it could have been dealt with as a general
exception under paragraph 17.1 part 3. Nobody has tried to invoke the special
urgency provisions of 18.1 and you Mr Chairman have not responded to what
I said about being taken aside and asked if we can do this urgently. I take that
to mean that the urgency provisions were not invoked, it is a key decision for
the reasons that I have given and it has not been dealt with in a procedural
Constitutional manner.
47.21 Councillor David Busby added:
47.22 The whole process has been rushed, The boundary review would have been
for the merger of the two Councils and we were told that this was not on the
table, that is a rushed process. The options, how many would choose the
unitary option? It is uncertain as we would still be open to such an option and
assume that it would be strongly resisted.
47.23 Councillor Jennie Jenkins, Leader of the Council, gave the following closing
statement.
47.24 What I am hearing is negative and I am understanding all of it, and I go back
to Alastair McCraw’s phrase of never say never, we will have to look at the
options again if the poll etc comes back. Do not underestimate the pressure
we are under at this moment in time. If you want to leave it 2 years that’s your
choice but how will you deliver the budget, how will you deliver services, I
hope you can come up with something. We are here, we are here to make
decisions as elected members for the people that elect us. This is the time to
go out and ask them what they think, for me delivering the services in a timely
and costly fashion is paramount so I would ask you to consider what you are
doing today very carefully. Are you just saying that we’ve made the decision
and don’t need to bother about what the electorate think. When you go out in
2019 and ask to be re-elected will you be delivering services, maybe not. By
then the cuts will be hitting and we will have to make very serious decisions.
Going back to the boundary review, at that moment in time it was not on the
cards, but looking at the figures since then we have had to re-jig it, the
boundary review had nothing to do with the merger decision, it was because
we had to view how many electorate we were representing and that was the
reason, Mid Suffolk had to go out and we were going to be close behind and it
was economies of scale to do them at the same time and that is the truth. So I
ask you to consider what you are doing today very carefully.

Page 90

Babergh Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday, 31 October 2017

47.25 Committee Members debated the decision examining the process of the
decision and whether the principles of decision making had been breached
and acknowledged that Councillor’s had serious concerns over the decision
not being published on the forward plan. Members’ continued by debating
whether the Cabinet’s decision constituted a key decision with some
Members’ concluding that the decision did not Constitute a Key Decision but
that it should also have been listed on the Forthcoming Decisions list and that
no attempt had been made to engage the emergency provisions under the
Constitution.
By 6 votes to 1
RESOLVED
(i)

That the principles of decision making were breached and that the
decision be referred back to Cabinet for reconsideration with
additional information. The following additional information should
be considered by the Cabinet:a) The comments raised during the meeting of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee on 31 October 2017;
b) A more detailed Financial Case;
c) Further information about the consultation activities,
particularly the telephone poll.

(ii)

That Cabinet be requested to refer these decisions to a meeting of the
full Council for debate, before Cabinet makes its final determination.

The business of the meeting was concluded at 1.20 pm.
……………………………………..
Chairman

Page 91

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix C

INITIAL FINANCIAL ASSESSMENT BY CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER
Executive Summary
The projected direct financial savings to BMSDCs of implementing Option B are
approximately £600k per annum. These would be generated in full, following a oneyear transition period. In addition, further ‘non-cashable’ savings of approximately
£400k per annum are anticipated from an increase in officer capacity.
These are prudent financial assumptions and as such the Councils can expect these
to be the minimum level of cashable and non-cashable savings that would be
delivered. It is anticipated that the actual total savings will exceed £1m per annum.
The one-off costs required to achieve the change and the level of cashable savings
indicated have been assessed over a two-year period at £670k and include an
allowance for redundancy costs. From these figures the pay-back period, of investing
the one-off costs, from cashable savings would be in the middle of year 2 of the new
arrangements. If reductions in staffing were managed without the need to incur
redundancy costs, then the pay-back period would be right at the start of year 2. Both
are strong business cases for this type and level of change.
More significantly, however, Option B would also provide the new council with a
stronger and much more sustainable combined financial position for both the General
Fund and Housing Revenue Account. This would reduce the financial risk to the
Councils from a range of 6-9 to 4 and ensure that the projected combined budget gaps
in the Medium Term Financial Plan (as at April 2017) reduce from a combined total of
£900k to £300k.
Background
Through ‘Working Together’ BMSDCs have already achieved a high degree of
integration and savings in the management and delivery of services. Further actions
are also underway through the Enabled and Efficient strand of the Joint Strategic Plan
that will deliver additional savings.
The Councils originally considered proposals to establish one new council in 2011.
These were not taken forward at that time but BMSDCs did proceed with a programme
of sharing officers and integrating services. This resulted in total savings of over £2m
per annum across the two councils being achieved by 2014/15. ‘Working Together’
has therefore delivered many of the same savings that would otherwise have been
made through establishing one new council.
‘Working Together’ also includes several other ongoing transformation projects e.g.
the current electoral review, which will reduce the number of councillors across the
two councils; the move to a single headquarters; and the public access transformation.
Savings from these activities are therefore excluded from this assessment, but will add

1|Page

Page 93

further to the cashable savings of approximately £600k resulting from one new council,
as described below.
Financial Savings
The further savings that could be generated by Option B predominantly arise from
removing the costs associated with operating as two councils rather than as one. No
assumptions have been included for either additional costs or savings resulting from
resolution of current policy differences between the two councils e.g. locality budgets
and short-term car parking charges. Table 1 below is an interim assessment of the
Ongoing Savings / Costs and One-off Transition Costs with the creation of a new
authority. The sections below provide further details of these estimates, which are
predominantly based on 2017/18 budgets. There may be some changes to the
numbers as we prepare the budgets for 2018/19, but this will be marginal.
Table 1

Babergh District Council and Mid Suffolk District Council - Indicative Costs and Savings

Ongoing Costs / Savings (-)
Members Allowances
External Audit & Treasury Management Adviser
Subscriptions
Further Service Savings
Total Ongoing Costs / Savings (-)
One-Off Transition Costs
Consultation
Contract Novation
Branding / Signage etc
Termination Costs
Total One-Off Transition Costs
Total Costs / Savings (-)

Advance
Costs
£'000

Year 1
£'000

Year 2
£'000

Year 3
£'000

Year 4
£'000

Year 5
£'000

0

-60
-75
-35
-230
-400

-60
-75
-35
-445
-615

-60
-75
-35
-445
-615

-60
-75
-35
-445
-615

-60
-75
-35
-445
-615

80

335
335

0

0

0

0

80

-65

-615

-615

-615

-615

40
20
20

2|Page

Page 94

Babergh District Council and Mid Suffolk District Council - Indicative Costs and Savings

Implementation
Costs
£'000

Year 1
£'000

Year 2
£'000

Year 3
£'000

Year 4
£'000

Year 5
£'000

Ongoing Costs / Savings (-)
Members Allowances
External Audit & Treasury Management Adviser
Subscriptions
Leadership & Support Service Savings
- Senior Leadership Team
- Communications
- Finance
- Commissioning & Procurement
- Legal
- HR, OD and H & S
- ICT
- Internal Audit & Risk Management
- Democratic Services
- Business Improvement
Sub-total Leadership & Support Service Savings

-60
-75
-35

-60
-75
-35

-60
-75
-35

-60
-75
-35

-60
-75
-35

-60
-5
-35
-10
-10
-25
-30
-5
-25
-10
-215

-120
-15
-70
-20
-25
-50
-60
-15
-50
-20
-445

-120
-15
-70
-20
-25
-50
-60
-15
-50
-20
-445

-120
-15
-70
-20
-25
-50
-60
-15
-50
-20
-445

-120
-15
-70
-20
-25
-50
-60
-15
-50
-20
-445

Total Ongoing Costs / Savings (-)

-385

-615

-615

-615

-615

0

0

0

0

-615

-615

-615

-615

One-Off Transition Costs
Consultation
Contract Novation
Branding / Signage etc
Advisory costs
Shadow Authority
ICT & Systems
Direct Service Costs / Project Management
Termination Costs
Total One-Off Transition Costs

315

25
30
280
355

Total Costs / Savings (-)

315

-30

60
20
80
20
10
75
70

In addition to the direct financial savings set out above and described below, an
extremely important element of any new council, would be the gain in efficiency and
capacity that would be released. Particularly at Senior Leadership Team level, serving
two authorities generates a considerable level of diseconomy, especially in attending
committee meetings, briefing members, report writing, etc. In these areas, a new
council would create a high-level of efficiency savings that, whilst not immediately
cashable, would create “headspace” for management and increased effectiveness.
This is prudently anticipated to generate a 20% efficiency gain for Senior Leadership
Team (SLT), and a 10% efficiency gain for other Extended Leadership Team (ELT)
cCorporate mManagers. In financial terms this is equivalent to around £400k per
annum (approximately £210k at SLT and £190k at ELT.
Members Allowances
As outlined above the current electoral review will create some savings from a
reduction in the total number of councillors from the elections in May 2019. The
anticipated reduction of councillors from 83 to 66 would result in a reduction of Basic
Allowances of approximately £70k. At this stage it is not possible to provide a firm
financial figure for this as the Councils will carry out a further Independent
Remuneration Panel review of the Member Allowance Scheme prior to 2019 which
3|Page

Page 95

could reduce such savings. Any such savings have therefore been excluded from this
assessment.
Dissolving the current Councils to form a new single council would also result in a
reduction in the total number of councillors with Special Responsibility Allowances, as
there will only be one Cabinet, set of Portfolio Holders and Chairman and ViceChairman of the various committees. Although, as described above, there may be a
small increase in these allowances to reflect the additional responsibility of a larger
council, it is not anticipated that this would remove all of these savings in allowances.
The figure in Table 1 is therefore a prudent assessment (based on a current average
between the two councils - £44k for BDC and £78k for MSDC in 2016/17) of the
minimum reduction in Special Responsibility Allowances that can safely be assumed
from establishing one new council.
External Audit and Treasury Management Adviser
Savings can be anticipated on external audit fees as a resultbecause of the need to
only audit one set of accounts, statements, etc. and it would only be necessary to have
one contract with an external treasury management adviser. The figure shown is an
average between the two councils’ current costs (£83k for BDC and £70k for MSDC).
Subscriptions
The two councils have annual subscriptions to a number of bodies as individual
authorities e.g. the Local Government Association (and East of England), District
Councils Network, Rural Services Network, New Anglia LEP, National Fraud Initiative,
New Local Government Network, Local Government Information Unit etc. Whilst deals
have been done with some organisations, when both councils have signed up, there
would be further savings from only subscribing once.
Further Service Integration / Savings
A very cautious approach has been taken to estimates of further savings generated
specifically because of becoming one Council. These have been confined to those
Support Service areas where the authorities being separate bodies and running
substantially separate committee systems generates a degree of additional work;, plus
a reduction of one post in the Senior Leadership Team.
In practice, in the event of establishing one new council and full integration, some
further savings might also reasonably be expected in the management and delivery of
direct services. In Table 1 above, a savings level of 10% on direct staff expenditure
has been assumed from the key Support Services, with these savings coming on
stream in the middle of year 1. Public access has not been included in this because
of the separate work already in place to transform the Councils’ approach.
We expect that staff efficiencies could be seen in the following areas and these could
be driven out as cashable savings by reducing the number of staff employed:
• Officer support to multiple Council meetings, preparation of reports, briefings
and meeting attendance

4|Page

Page 96

•
•

Simplified invoicing / charging / billing arrangements with only one budget and
statement of accounts and no recharges between the two authorities
Opportunities to further review and streamline operating practices

Transition Costs
Estimates of one-off transition costs have been developed, largely based on the
Business Case that was prepared by the two councils in 2011, but also considering
other potential transition costs as set out below.
Consultation - The planned consultation and engagement of residents in both Babergh
and Mid Suffolk districts is likely to cost in the region of £60k.
Contract Novation - Allowance has been made for contract novation costs of £20k, but
this could be minimised if most of the affected contracts are identified within the Order
that the Secretary of State would lay to establish the new council.
Branding / Signage - Costs will be incurred by changing the identity of the existing two
councils to one new council including signs, notices, staff uniforms, vehicles, Civic
office and insignia, the website and intranet etc, but these could be phased to coincide
with renewals rather than incurring additional costs for all aspects. An allowance of
£80k has been included to cover these costs.
Advisory Costs - There could be some advisory costs that are incurred, for example
the external auditor needing to undertake additional work to audit the closing balances
of the old councils and review the opening balances of the new council. £20k has
been included for these costs.
Shadow Authority Costs – In the year before commencement of the new council a
shadow authority would be established and would incur some costs associated with
administration and meeting expenses. An estimate of £10k has been included for this.
ICT and Systems – Whilst significant work has been done in recent years to move the
two councils on to the same software in each service area, there is likely to be further
one-off costs associated with setting up new databases for the new council. An
estimate of £100k has been included.
Direct Service Costs (including Project Management) – There is a range of work that
will need to be undertaken internally to prepare for the establishment of a new council.
This will cover:
• Modifications to systems and processes
• Communication to external parties including suppliers, customers and partners
• Project and programme management of the transition
• Specific advice from HR, finance, ICT, legal and procurement
• Leadership and programme oversight
Whilst it is likely that the majority of this will be managed within existing staff resources,
there could be some need for staff time to be back-filled, so an allowance of £100k
additional costs has been included.

5|Page

Page 97

Termination Costs - Most of the savings in Leadership and Support Services relate to
reductions in staffing. To achieve staffing savings of £445k this would require a
reduction of approximately 8 fte (1 in the Leadership Team and 7 in Support Services)
at a current average cost of £47k per fte.within the support services. Any termination
costs could reasonably be estimated using a flat rate of £35k per member of staff
covering both redundancy and pension costs. Implementation would not take place
however until the new council is established and would be managed carefully to
maximise natural wastage and finding suitable alternative employment. The figure in
Table 1 of £335280k therefore represents the worst- case position.
Financial Strength
BMSDCs have some differences and also some similarities in their financial profiles
that have an impact on their financial sustainability going forward. The current Medium
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) figures and reserve levels show that BDC has
challenges in relation to the General Fund (GF) and MSDC in relation to the Housing
Revenue Account (HRA). Combining these positions therefore presents the best
opportunity to achieve a stable medium term financial position for the residents in both
areas.
The Joint MTFS document, approved in February 2017, shows the projected
cumulative budget gaps for the two Councils up until 2020/21 for three different
financial scenarios. One new council would benefit from the savings shown in Table
1 above. Table 2 below shows the effect of such a combined position on the current
medium financial position if the new council came into operation from April 2019.
Table 2

Medium Term Financial Position
2018/19
£'000
Shortfall in funding (-) / Surplus funds - cumulative
Babergh
Mid Suffolk
Total both Councils
New Council (if from 2019/20)

-81
867
786

2019/20 2020/21
£'000
£'000
-596
150
-446

-741
-135
-876

-381

-326

Source: MTFS figures 2017/18 Budget reports

6|Page

Page 98

Medium Term Financial Position
2018/19
£'000

2019/20
£'000

2020/21
£'000

-81
867
786

-596
150
-446

-741
-135
-876

-436

-271

Shortfall in funding (-) / Surplus funds - cumulative
Babergh
Mid Suffolk
Total both Councils
New Council (if from 2019/20)
Source: MTFS figures 2017/18 Budget reports

These numbers will be revised and extended to 2021/22 as the budget for 2018/19
and a revised MTFS are prepared. With the change to how New Homes Bonus was
allocated from 2017/18 and the likelihood that further changes will be made as outlined
below, both councils, beyond 2018/19, are likely to face the position of having a
significant shortfall in funding to support their core budget activities. This will be a
change for Mid Suffolk particularly, where budget surpluses have been achieved in
recent years.
A risk assessment has been undertaken of the current and projected financial position
for the GF and HRA for each council and a projected one for the new council, to
understand the potential benefit of combining the positions. If the councils remain as
two separate bodies, then they will need to make tough decisions as to how they
individually set balanced budgets in 2020/21 for both the GF and HRA. If they combine
their resources into one new council, then the savings identified in Table 1 will result
in a lower impact on direct service delivery. This is supported by the information
presented in Tables 2 and 4. The risk assessment scores are shown in Table 3 below
Table 3

Financial Risk Assessment
Likelihood

Impact

Total

Mid Suffolk - GF
Babergh - GF
New Council - GF

2
3
2

3
3
2

6
9
4

Mid Suffolk - HRA
Babergh - HRA
New Council - HRA

3
2
2

3
3
2

9
6
4

It is currently unknown if or when councils may move into a 100% retention of business
rates system, but even at the current 50% retention this is, along with council tax, a
main source of income for the Councils. Currently the income from this source is not
significantly different, £2.7m for MSDC and £2.6m for BDC in 2017/18 (baseline figure
plus grants), but the revised assessment of need for the two councils (or one new

7|Page

Page 99

council) will be crucial in the level of income to be retained in future. This cannot
currently be predicted with the information that has been shared by DCLG to date.
By contrast, BDC currently has slightly higher Revenue Support Grant (RSG), but the
MTFS allows for this to have disappeared by the time that establishing one new council
might take place.
To date, MSDC has attracted a higher level of New Homes Bonus (NHB) payments
by having greater growth in housing numbers and this is one of the factors that has
contributed to the more favourable GF position and higher GF reserves. In 2017/18
Mid Suffolk willis receivinge £2m and Babergh £1.2m. Government’s changes to the
NHB regime (primarily designed to shift more financial support into social care) will
significantly reduce the amount of NHB received by both districts (regardless of the
future levels of housing growth).
For the HRAs, BDC has significantly more headroom within its borrowing cap as at 31
March 2017 of £13m, compared with £4m in MSDC; and therefore, more capacity to
develop new social housing as part of the 30-year business plan. The level of reserves
is also higher for BDC than MSDC with the figures as at 31 March 2017 standing at
£13.1m and £5.4m respectively.
A new single authority would therefore have a significantly different profile to the two
current districts, being more sustainable in terms of the GF and HRA. Based on
2018/19 MTFS forecasts, Table 4 below illustrates the comparative net GF budget and
reserves and balances position of the new authority compared with the existing
position. These figures will be updated as part of the budget setting process for
2018/19.

8|Page

Page 100

Table 4

Babergh and Mid Suffolk District Councils
Forecast Net Budget Requirement and Reserves 2018/19

Babergh

Mid
Suffolk

New
Council

Council Tax
Revenue Support Grant
Rural Services Delivery Grant
New Homes Bonus / Other
Business Rates Baseline
Business Rates S31 Grant

£'000
5,019
204
140
1,179
2,165
650
9,357

£'000
5,842
36
267
978
2,265
600
9,988

£'000
10,861
240
407
2,157
4,430
1,250
19,345

Council Tax
Revenue Support Grant
Rural Services Delivery Grant
New Homes Bonus / Other
Business Rates Baseline
Business Rates S31 Grant

%
54%
2%
1%
13%
23%
7%
100%

%
58%
0%
3%
10%
23%
6%
100%

%
56%
1%
2%
11%
23%
6%
100%

£'000
1,150
3,055
4,205

£'000
1,050
13,100
14,150

£'000
2,200
16,155
18,355

45%

142%

95%

Net Budget Requirement

Reserves
General
Earmarked
Total
Reserves as % of Net Budget
Source: MTFS figures 2017/18 Budget reports

Table 5 below presents a summary merged balance sheet for a new single authority
based on the published, but unaudited, 2016/17 Statement of Accounts. In broad
terms, a new single authority would benefit from increased financial resilience and
opportunities as the combined balance sheet is stronger when looking across both the
General Fund and Housing Revenue Account.

9|Page

Page 101

Table 5
Combined Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2017
BDC
£'000
Long Term Assets
Current Assets
Current Liabilities
Long Term Liabilities
Net Assets

MSDC Combined
£'000
£'000

238,538 237,460
18,537
19,165
-12,676 -29,131
-110,388 -106,595

475,998
37,702
-41,807
-216,983

134,011

120,899

254,910

-22,214
-111,797

-22,683
-98,216

-44,897
-210,013

Total Reserves
-134,011 -120,899
Combined Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2017

-254,910

Usable Reserves
Unusable Reserves

BDC
£'000
Long Term Assets
Current Assets
Current Liabilities
Long Term Liabilities
Net Assets

MSDC Combined
£'000
£'000

238,305 237,492
18,545
19,173
-12,676 -29,131
-110,388 -106,595

475,797
37,718
-41,807
-216,983

133,786

120,939

254,725

Usable Reserves
Unusable Reserves

-22,254
-111,532

-22,723
-98,216

-44,977
-209,748

Total Reserves

-133,786 -120,939

-254,725

Other Financial Considerations
Capital finance considerations
There could be some potential to reduce the external borrowing requirements that
would normally be projected if a single treasury management function, with access to
greater volumes of cash and varying profiles, was available under a new council.
There could also in the short term be some potential reduction in the Minimum
Revenue Provision (MRP - annual allowance for the repayment of borrowing)
requirement as the single council would have access to a single capital receipt budget.
Based on an estimated borrowing of around £1 million a year, which results in a MRP
of around £40k (assuming a rate of 4%), with the use of capital receipts this revenue
10 | P a g e

Page 102

impact could effectively be reduced. The cumulative effect of adopting this approach
would obviously be dependent on the availability of capital receipts or other nonborrowing resources.
Further options that could be available to the new authority would be to undertake
repayment of, or not refinance, existing debt. However, this course of action would
also be dependent on the availability of resources and consideration of other priorities.
The option of making premature repayments of debt would also need to consider any
penalties associated with this.
No allowance has been made at this stage in this financial summary for any revenue
savings arising from these possible revisions to capital financing policy. The new
council would need to fundamentally review its capital programme priorities and
funding and how this is financed would form an element of this.
Status Quo Costs
One of the risks of status quo is the councils could begin to diverge in their financial
strategies as they face different pressures due to their revenue profiles. This could
then begin to unravel the considerable financial and service delivery benefits of shared
services and a result is likely to add cost back into the system through additional
staffing capacity to deliver the diverging agendas. It is difficult to quantify this, but an
estimated £200k is expected to be saved under a single council model as this
additional capacity would not be required. Split between the two councils 50:50, this
equates to a council tax rise of approximately 2% for each council.
If there is a significant divergence of views between the two councils about whether to
proceed with one single council or not, then it could jeopardise the current partnership
and integration arrangements. If the two councils decided to discontinue these
arrangements, then both councils would incur significant additional costs to ensure
that they both have a sustainable management structure. At present all management
costs are shared 50:50 with a saving of over £2m per annum having been achieved
from this arrangement. A significant sum would have to be reinvested by each council,
which would reduce the resources available for front line services.
Council Tax Equalisation
As part of creating a new single council it would be necessary to adopt the same Band
D council tax figure across all households within the boundaries of the new council.
The Band D figures for 2017/18 as approved in the Budget reports, are £153.86 for
Babergh and £161.97 for Mid Suffolk. A difference of £8.11. The difference was
reduced by £2.39 in 2017/18 as Babergh increased by £5 and Mid Suffolk by £2.61.
Babergh’s tax base (number of Band D equivalent properties) is 32,488.91, and Mid
Suffolk’s is 35,785.78. The total council tax requirement of the two councils in 2017/18
is shown below.

11 | P a g e

Page 103

Tax Base

Babergh
Mid Suffolk

32,488.91
35,785.78

Total

68,274.69

Band D
£

Council Tax
Income
£’000

153.86
161.97

4,998
5,796
10,794

A new council would need to decide at what level it wishes to set council tax, but the
current average level across the two councils (to achieve the same level of income in
2017/18) is £158.10. The decision is likely to be based upon a combination of the
cost, what is deemed to be acceptable to the residents of the new council and
projections over the medium- term period.
A factor which may have an impact upon the level at which council tax is equalised is
the principle for local referendums for excessive council tax rises, which is currently
the higher of 2% or £5 for shire district councils. For the purposes of this note, it is
assumed that this limit would still be in place when the new council was established.
The difference between the two council taxes is such that it does not create a
significant financial risk around equalisation. Council tax equalisation does not have
to be achieved in one year, but a strategy would need to be adopted to achieve it over
a defined period of time. As part of the Suffolk Local Government Review work in
2008, it was generally proposed that equalisation would be achieved over a four- year
period. On the assumption that the gap is at the current level when the new council is
established and it continued to be reduced at the same level as in 2017/18, it would
be year 4 before equalisation was achieved. Further financial modelling of the options
around council tax equalisation and the impact on the medium term financial position
of the new council would be undertaken in a more detailed business case.
If the Councils take the decision to form a new Council, it would be beneficial if they
manage their council tax strategies over the next couple of years to achieve
equalisationfurther reduce the difference in council tax levels between them. If Mid
Suffolk freeze their council tax rate in 2018/19 and Babergh increase their council tax
by £5 in both 2018/19 and 2019/20 and Mid Suffolk either has two small increases or
one increase and a freeze in 2018/19 and 2019/20, then equalisation could be
achieved in 2019/20.

12 | P a g e

Page 104

Impact

Risk Matrix
Disaster

4

Bad

3

Noticeable

2

Minimal

1

4 (Medium)

8 (High)

12
(Very High)

16
(Very High)

3 (Low)

6 (Medium)

9 (High)

12
(Very High)

2 (Low)

4 (Medium)

6 (Medium)

8 (High)

1 (Low)

2 (Low)

3 (Low)

4 (Medium)

1

2

3

4

Highly
Unlikely

Unlikely

Probable

Highly
Probable

Probability / Likelihood
Likelihood
1

Highly Unlikely

* Has never occurred before
* Would only happen in exceptional circumstances

2

Unlikely

* Not expected to occur but potential exists
* Has occurred once in the last ten years

3

Probable

* May occur occasionally
* Has occurred within the last five years
* Reasonable chance of occurring again

4

Highly Probable

* Expected to occur
* Occurs regularly or frequently

1

Minimal

* Up to £5k
* Very minor service disruption (less than one day)
* No noticeable media interest
* No harm to persons/community

2

Noticeable

* £5k - £50k
* Some service disruption, more than one day
* Local media coverage
* Potential for minor harm/injury

3

Bad

* £50k - £250k
* Critical service disruption (statutory services not delivered)
* Adverse local/national media coverage
* Potential for harm or injury (non-life threatening)

4

Disaster

* Over £250k
* Systemic or sustained service loss
* Adverse/prolonged national media coverage
* Litigation, custodial sentence
* Serious injury or death

Impact

13 | P a g e

Page 105

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix D
One Council – programme of engagement
1. Background
1.1
A formal eight-week period of public and stakeholder engagement has been planned to
ascertain if there is public support for the option to dissolve both Babergh and Mid Suffolk councils
and replace them with a single district council for the area. The aim of the engagement programme
will be to raise awareness of the proposal and to give people an opportunity to have their say.
2. External engagement programme
2.1

A summary of the external engagement plan is included below.

2.2
A media campaign will be launched with regular press releases, use of social media and a
dedicated page on the council’s website. A media briefing will be arranged to increase the profile of
the engagement in the local and regional media.
2.3
The new ‘One Council’ webpage will be designed to signpost the visitor to relevant
background information and to provide a link to the online survey where a written response can be
provided. The webpage will include:
2.3.1 An introduction from the leaders
2.3.2 Link to an information leaflet containing background to the proposal
2.3.3 ‘Frequently asked questions’ section which will be used to respond to any concerns or
misunderstandings about the proposals, for example ‘will there be a rise in Council tax?’
2.3.4 Link to an online survey which will provide the opportunity for the public and other
stakeholders to comment on the proposal and ask questions which will be answered
directly (if an email address is provided). The frequently asked questions will be updated
as necessary.
2.3.5 Links to access background information, including press releases and Council papers.
2.3.6 The list of stakeholders engaged with as part of the programme
2.4
The Babergh and Mid Suffolk social media accounts will be used to raise awareness of the
engagement programme and to encourage residents to submit their comments and questions via
the survey. Targeted posts on Facebook will be used to increase engagement with different areas of
the districts and with different demographics, for example young people.
2.5
A letter from the Council Leaders will be sent to every parish and town council in the
districts. The letter will include an information leaflet and be used to raise awareness of the
engagement programme, to offer an opportunity to discuss the proposal and to encourage the
parish and town council to have their say by responding to the letter or by responding using the
online survey.
2.6
A list of key Council stakeholders and partners has been created and an email/letter will be
sent from the Leader, Chief Executive or the relevant Portfolio Holder or Assistant Director. The
correspondence will include an information leaflet, offer the opportunity to discuss the proposal and
encourage the recipient to have their say via the online survey or by responding to the letter.
2.6.1 An indicative list of stakeholders is included at Appendix A of this note

Page 107

Appendix D
2.7
An information leaflet will be distributed to public buildings across the districts, for example
libraries, leisure centre etc. The leaflet will include the following information:
2.7.1 Introduction from the Council Leaders
2.7.2 The history of the Babergh and Mid Suffolk ‘Working Together’ partnership
2.7.3 The challenge faced by the two councils
2.7.4 The benefits of becoming one council
2.7.5 Details of how to take part in the engagement
2.8
Elected members from Babergh and Mid Suffolk will also be provided with information packs
and encouraged to discuss the proposal with the residents, businesses and community organisations
in their Wards.
2.9
A telephone polling specialist has been commissioned to independently survey 2000
randomly selected electors in each Council area. The aim of the call will be to capture their views
towards the proposal and will provide a statistically and demographically robust set of results.
Further detail on this methodology is included below. Details of the telephone polling is included at
Appendix B of this note
2.10 The proposal will also be discussed at existing community/business events where
appropriate, for example at Parish meetings, business meetings with the LEP etc.
3. Internal engagement programme
3.1

A summary of the internal engagement plan is included below.

3.2
A dedicated intranet page will be created to include background information, Frequently
Asked Questions and a link to a staff survey (separate to the public survey) where staff can comment
on the proposal and ask further questions. The page will also include a link to the information on the
public webpage.
3.3
Regular staff briefings will be arranged for all staff so that updates on the engagement
programme can be provided and to encourage staff to provide their feedback and questions through
the intranet page.
3.4
There will be a regular update in the ‘Working Together’ newsletter to ensure the messages
from the staff briefings are sent to all staff.
3.5
The proposal will be a regular item at the employee staff forum which includes
representatives from service areas. Discussions at the forum will include the challenges and
opportunities presented by the proposal and also be a useful forum to discuss any common
concerns that are raised by staff as part of the engagement programme.
3.6
Information posters and leaflets will be displayed at the office and locations of field staff and
will be used to staff to provide their feedback and to pose questions. A member of the Senior
Leadership Team will complete a ‘roadshow’ of staff to ensure the message is consistently cascaded
throughout the organisation.

Page 108

Appendix D
3.7
Frontline employees, for example waste operatives, will be targeted with additional briefings
to enable them to refer their customers to the relevant information if asked.
3.8
Briefings with union representatives will be undertaken by the Chief Executive and Head of
Human Resources.
4. Evaluating the feedback received:
4.1
The engagement programme has been designed to inform residents, businesses, partners
and stakeholders of the proposal and to provide an opportunity for people to provide feedback or
pose questions. A full report summarising the public engagement will be published as part of the
business case for Councillors to consider in the New Year.
4.2
The report will also include a full report from the independent telephone polling specialist.
This will provide a significant amount of quantitative and qualitative information to support
Councillors when debating the business case. Further information can be found at Appendix B.
4.3
The engagement summary report will include details of how far the message was
distributed. This will include:
4.3.1 The number of stories published in the local, regional and national press and in local
government publications.
4.3.2 The number of radio/ TV stories used
4.3.3 The total reach of the social media campaign, including the number of comments/
responses received direct on social media, comments on corporate posts or using the
official hashtag for the engagement programme.
4.4
All emails and letters received in response to the engagement programme will be published
as part of the engagement summary report and an analysis of the comments and questions received
through the online survey will also be provided. The common messages coming through the letters
and online survey will be categorised and Council responses provided to each category.

Page 109

Appendix D
Appendix A
Initial list of Council stakeholders
Sector / organisation

Person/ organisation
Jo Churchill MP
James Cartlidge MP
Dan Poulter MP
MPs
Sajid Javid MP
Town and parish councils
All towns and parishes
Parish liaison meetings
Suffolk Association of Local Councils
Lords
Lord-Lieutenant for Suffolk
Lady Rosalind C Scott (Mid Suffolk)
Lord John E Gardiner (Mid Suffolk)
Lord John S Deben (Mid Suffolk)
Lord Robert W Dixon-Smith (Babergh)
Business community
New Anglia LEP
Chamber of Commerce in both districts
Stowmarket & District Chamber of Commerce
Suffolk Chamber of Commerce
Federation of Small Businesses
Partners
Orbit Group
Havebury
Flagship
Orwell
Saffron
Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG
West Suffolk CCG
West Suffolk Hospital
Ipswich Hospital
Norfolk and Suffolk Mental Health Trust
Police and Crime Commissioner
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough CA Mayor
The Gainsborough House
Museum of East Anglian Life
Serco
South Suffolk Leisure
ID VERDE
Voluntary and Community Sector Citizens Advice Bureaux - Stowmarket and Sudbury
Community Action Suffolk
Job Centre - Stowmarket and Sudbury
County Councils
Suffolk
Norfolk
Cambridgeshire
Essex
District Councils
South Norfolk
Breckland
Braintreee
Colchester

Page 110

Appendix D
Sector / organisation

National membership groups

Hard to reach groups

Union
Other

Person/ organisation
Tendring
Ipswich
Suffolk Coastal
Waveney
St Edmundsbury
Forest Heath
DCN
LGA
NLGN
LGIU
SOLACE
SPARSE
The Rural Coffee Caravan
Home First
MyGo
Homestart
The Mix (youth club)
The Debenham Project
The Bridge Project
The Porch Project
Norfolk and Suffolk G&T Liaison Service
Foodbanks
VASP
Iceni charity
Suffolk refugee support forum
Ipswich and Suffolk Council for racial equalities
Suffolk disability forum
Unison and Unite
Boundary Commission
External auditors

Page 111

Appendix D
Appendix B
Telephone polling of electors in Babergh and Mid Suffolk
ComRes is a specialist polling agent and will be commissioned to conduct a 10-15 minute telephone
survey among 4,000 residents living in Babergh and Mid Suffolk district councils. The total sample
size will be split evenly between the two council areas (2,000 interviews in each area).
Having previously conducted similar surveys for East and West Suffolk, ComRes will use the surveys
from the other areas as a base. Changes will be made to reflect the different area. The questions will
be focused on the following areas:
-

Awareness of the proposal to create a single District-level Council for the area. This will test
the success of the media campaign.
Opinion on the proposal to create a single District-level Council for the area
Opinion on the importance of objectives that could be achieved by creating a new single
District Council for the area.
Opinion on the potential impact that a new single District-level Council would have on a
particular demographic group, for example whether positive, negative or no impact at all.
Opinion on priorities for local government
There will also be a chance to provide feedback on the following areas:
o Likes and dislikes about the local area
o Opinion on how a new Council should work with residents and businesses
o Concerns about the proposal to create a new single District-level Council
o Further information that they would like to receive about the proposal and how they
would like to receive the information.

The survey will be representative of the local population by age, gender, ward, socio-economic
group and ethnicity for each local authority separately, meaning results from Babergh will be
representative of Babergh, and the same for Mid Suffolk. The combined results would be weighted
to be representative of the combined area.
The large overall sample size will ensure strong data that allows for analysis by demographic and
other relevant factors. This approach will provide detailed insights on residents’ views towards the
proposals. By undertaking this survey of 4,000 residents the council is achieving 99% confidence
level and margin of error of plus or minus 2%. This means that if the study was repeated then 99% of
the time the result would be within 2% of the result of the first survey.
ComRes will produce an independent and in-depth analytical report on the findings across both
areas, which will include:








A concise and easily-digestible executive summary;
Clear sections detailing elements of the questionnaire;
Detailed analysis of each individual question and its responses;
Comparison of results between the two council areas;
Relevant analysis by demographic subgroups, e.g. by age, social grade or awareness of the
proposals;
An overview of the trends and patterns across the survey findings;
Actionable conclusions.

ComRes will also provide full data tables of the results and can be requested to deliver a detailed
presentation to Councillors.

Page 112

Appendix E

WIDER REASONS FOR PROPOSING OPTION B
Organisationally







Natural incremental extension of working together approach (2011 shared Chief
Executive, 2011 onwards shared Senior Leadership Team extending to all
services, 2013 Joint Strategic Plan, 2015 Refreshed Joint Strategic Plan, 2017
adoption of Leader/Cabinet model, 2017 move to single Headquarters, 2018/19
Joint Local Plan, 2019 Electoral equality);
Previous informal comments from electorate to the effect of ‘why haven’t you
merged’ and specific (historical 2011) mandate from Mid Suffolk electorate;
Staff capacity – equivalent savings of approximately £400k per annum;
Additional efficiency and financial savings of approximately £600k per annum
generated from acting as a single Council – with one Cabinet, Constitution, MTFS,
Budget, Business Plan, Performance report etc;
Long term financial stability and resilience from combining the strengths of the
respective General Funds, Housing Revenue Accounts and Reserves.

For Communities





Opportunity to create a new council with stronger ‘localism’ and engagement
arrangement;
Equalisation and ‘protection’ from either future dramatic Council Tax increases or
service cuts through delivery of greater Value for Money, especially in Babergh;
Greater alignment of Councillors at District and County to reflect community
identities rather than being defined by artificial local government boundaries;
Ability for Mid Suffolk area to benefit from becoming a more financially resilient
landlord, able to develop more council and affordable housing.

More broadly





Able to act in even more co-ordinated way for shared challenges including
infrastructure (especially A140, A14 and railway) and the wider economy;
Providing a more mixed / balanced economic focus overall to build on and
complement the strengths of both areas;
Better placed (as a larger district by population nationally) to take a leading role in
the Suffolk, regionally e.g. with NALEP, and nationally e.g. with DCN; especially
on rural issues;
Better placed to be able to respond to Double Devolution – with the scale and
capacity to directly deliver some current county services and functions locally
ourselves, consequentially improving local services for our residents.

Page 113

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
BC/17/21
DRAFT TIMETABLE OF MEETINGS 2018-19
Updated 3 November 2017
May-18

M

7 BANK HOLIDAY

JOINT AUDIT (10am)
14 JHB (2.15)

BDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY (2pm)
21 MSDC ANNUAL COUNCIL (5.30)

28 BANK HOLIDAY

T

1

8 MSDC CABINET (2.30)

15

22 BDC ANNUAL COUNCIL (9.30)

29

W

2 PLANNING (9.30)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL A (9.30)
9 SI Planning Referrals (pm)

16 PLANNING (9.30)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL B (9.30)
23 SI

PLANNING (9.30)
30 (Suffolk Show)

T

3

10 BDC CABINET (9.30)

MSDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY
17 (9.30)

24 SCC Annual Council

31 (Suffolk Show)

F

4

11

18

25
Jun-18

M

4 MSDC CABINET (2.30)

11

18 BDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY (2pm)

25

T

5

12

19

26

W

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL A (9.30)
6 SI

13 PLANNING (9.30)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL B (9.30)
20 SI Planning Referrals (pm)

27 PLANNING (9.30)

T

7 BDC CABINET (5.30)

MSDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY
14 (9.30)

21 MSDC COUNCIL (5.30)

28

8 BDC LICENSING & REG (9.30)

15

22

29

16 JOINT AUDIT (10am)

23 BDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY (2pm)

30

31

F

1 MSDC LICENSING & REG (10am)

Jul-18

M

2

9 MSDC CABINET (2.30)

T

10

17

24 BDC COUNCIL (5.30)

W

3 (LGA Conference)
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL A (9.30)
SI
4 (LGA Conference)

11 PLANNING (9.30)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL B (9.30)
18 SI

25 PLANNING (9.30)

T

5 (LGA Conference)

12 BDC CABINET (9.30)

MSDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY
19 (9.30)

26 MSDC COUNCIL (5.30)

F

6

13

20

27
Aug-18

M

6 MSDC CABINET (2.30)

13

20 BDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY (2pm)

27 BANK HOLIDAY

T

7

14

21

28

W

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL A (9.30)
1 SI Planning Referrals (pm)

8 PLANNING (9.30)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL B (9.30)
15 SI

22 PLANNING (9.30)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL A (9.30)
29 SI

T

2

9 BDC CABINET (5.30)

MSDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY
16 (9.30)

23 MSDC COUNCIL (5.30)

30

F

3 MSDC LICENSING & REG (10am)

17

24

31

10 BDC LICENSING & REG (9.30)

Sep-18

M

3

10 MSDC CABINET (2.30)

17 BDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY (2pm)

24 JOINT AUDIT (10am)

T

4

11

18

25 BDC COUNCIL (5.30)

W

5 PLANNING (9.30)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL B (9.30)
12 SI Planning Referrals (pm)

19 PLANNING (9.30)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL A (9.30)
26 SI

T

6

13 BDC CABINET (9.30)

MSDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY
20 (9.30)

27 MSDC COUNCIL (5.30)

F

7

14

21

28
Oct-18

M

1

8 MSDC CABINET (2.30)

15

22 BDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY (2pm)

29

T

2

9

16

23 BDC COUNCIL (5.30)

30

W

3 PLANNING (9.30)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL B (9.30)
10 SI

17 PLANNING (9.30)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL A (9.30)
24 SI Planning Referrals (pm)

31 PLANNING (9.30)

T

4

11 BDC CABINET (5.30)

MSDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY
18 (9.30)

25 MSDC COUNCIL (5.30)

F

5 MSDC LICENSING & REG (10am)

12 BDC LICENSING & REG (9.30)

19

26
Nov-18

M

5 MSDC CABINET (2.30)

12 JOINT AUDIT (10am)

19 BDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY (2pm)

26

T

6

13

20

27

W

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL B (9.30)
7 SI

14 PLANNING (9.30)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL A (9.30)
21 SI

28 PLANNING (9.30)

22 MSDC COUNCIL (5.30)

29

23

30

T

1

8 BDC CABINET (9.30)

MSDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY
15 (9.30)

F

2

9

16

Page 115

Dec-18

M

3

10 MSDC CABINET (2.30)

17

24 BDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY (2pm)

T

4

11

18 BDC COUNCIL (5.30)

25 BANK HOLIDAY

W

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL B (9.30)
5 SI Planning Referrals (pm)

12 PLANNING (9.30)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL A (9.30)
19 SI

26 BANK HOLIDAY

27

28

T

6

13 BDC CABINET (5.30)

MSDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY
(9.30)
20 MSDC COUNCIL (5.30)

F

7 MSDC LICENSING & REG (10am)

14 BDC LICENSING & REG (9.30)

21

31

Jan-19

M

7 MSDC CABINET (2.30)

14 JOINT AUDIT (10am)

21 BDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY (2pm)

28

T

1 BANK HOLIDAY

8

15

22

29

W

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL B (9.30)
2 SI

9 PLANNING (9.30)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL A (9.30)
16 SI

23 PLANNING (9.30)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL B (9.30)
30 SI

T

3

10 BDC CABINET (9.30)

MSDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY
17 (9.30)

24 MSDC COUNCIL (5.30)

31

F

4

11

18

25
Feb-19

M

4 MSDC CABINET (2.30)

11

18 BDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY (2pm)

25

T

5

12

19 BDC COUNCIL (5.30)

26

W

6 PLANNING (9.30)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL A (9.30)
13 SI

20 PLANNING (9.30)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL B (9.30)
27 SI

T

7 BDC CABINET (5.30)

MSDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY
14 (9.30)

21 MSDC COUNCIL (5.30)

28

8 BDC LICENSING & REG (9.30)

15

22

F

1 MSDC LICENSING & REG (10am)

Mar-19

M

4 MSDC CABINET (2.30)

11 JOINT AUDIT (10am)

18 BDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY (2pm)

25

T

5

12

19

26

W

6 PLANNING (9.30)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL A (9.30)
13 SI

20 PLANNING (9.30)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL B (9.30)
27 SI

T

7 BDC CABINET (9.30)

MSDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY
14 (9.30)

21 MSDC COUNCIL (5.30)

28

8

15

22

29

F

1

Apr-19

M

1

8 MSDC CABINET (2.30)

15 BDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY (2pm)

22 BANK HOLIDAY

29

T

2

9

16

23 BDC COUNCIL (5.30)

30

W

3 PLANNING (9.30)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL A (9.30)
10 SI

17 PLANNING (9.30)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL B (9.30)
24 SI

T

4

11 BDC CABINET (5.30)

MSDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY
18 (9.30)

25 MSDC COUNCIL (5.30)

F

5 MSDC LICENSING & REG (10am)

12 BDC LICENSING & REG (9.30)

19 BANK HOLIDAY

26

May-19

M

6 BANK HOLIDAY

13 JOINT AUDIT (10am)

BDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY (2pm)
20 MSDC ANNUAL COUNCIL (5.30)

27 BANK HOLIDAY

T

7 MSDC CABINET (2.30)

14

21 BDC ANNUAL COUNCIL (9.30)

28

W

1 PLANNING (9.30)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL A (9.30)
8 SI

15 PLANNING (9.30)

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL B (9.30)
22 SI

29 PLANNING (9.30)

T

District and Parish Council
2 Elections

9 BDC CABINET (9.30)

MSDC OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY
16 (9.30)

23 SCC Annual Council

30

F

3

17

24

31

10

When Licensing Act 2003, Licensing Sub and Regulatory Sub Committees are required these will, wherever possible be held on a scheduled Licensing & Regulatory Committee day
SI - BDC Planning Committee site inspections
Rooms:
King Edmund Chamber - 100
Elisabeth - 80
Rose - 50
Britten - 30
Giles - 10/12
Millicent - 10/12
Garrick - 10/12
Dorothy - 10/12
Wolsey - 10/12

Page 116

